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DEAR	SHAREHOLDER,

As we embark on our 160th anniversary in 2024, we reflect on the remarkable 

journey of the banking industry since our establishment in 1864. From our 

humble beginnings in Mifflintown to the broader Central Pennsylvania 

communities we presently serve, we have much to commemorate.

While we have much to commemorate, it’s crucial to acknowledge the 

challenging landscape of 2023 for the banking sector. The Federal Reserve 

raised interest rates 11 times since March 2022 – the fastest pace since the early 

1980s. The rapid pace of this 500 basis points increase significantly elevated our 

cost of funds, outpacing our rate of repricing of our earning assets. As a result, 

our net interest margin faced considerable strain, impacting our earnings for the 

fiscal year. 

In addition to the net interest margin compression, the provision for credit 

losses totaled $1,645,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023. This adversely 

affected the Bank’s operating performance in fiscal 2023. The higher than 

historical provision for credit losses was due in part to one significant 

commercial loan charge off in the fourth quarter of 2023. The Board of Directors 

and Management believe this one isolated fourth quarter charge off is not 

indicative of the overall quality of the loan portfolio, which remains strong as 

indicated by our near historically low delinquency levels. Pennian Bank 

continues to remain well capitalized, with the Bank’s Total Capital Ratio 

remaining among the strongest of our local community bank peer group. 

In 2023, there was increased competition for deposits both within the 

banking sector and from the institutional sector, resulting in a slight decline in 

deposits. The Bank experienced a slight decrease in our assets from $707,771,000 

in 2022 to $707,545,000 in 2023. Despite the challenges highlighted above, 

our loan portfolio expanded from $458,949,000 in 2022 to $470,204,000 in 2023. 

Looking ahead, we maintain optimism for the latter part of 2024. With the 

Federal Reserve approaching the culmination of the current monetary cycle, 

relief is anticipated in the later months of 2024. This, in conjunction with the 

steady ongoing repricing of our earning asset base to current market rates, 

will start to alleviate the strain on our compressed net interest margin. 

As we celebrate our 160th anniversary, we take pride in our steadfast status as 

an independent community bank since 1864. This milestone would not have been 

achievable without the support of our customers, employees, and shareholders. 

Throughout our long history, we’ve encountered and overcome numerous 

challenges, and like those who preceded us, we remain resolute and 

resilient in navigating the current headwinds, guiding our institution 

towards a brighter future.

John P. Henry III    Scott E. Fritz

Chairman    President & Chief Executive Officer

John P. Henry III
Chairman

Scott E. Fritz
President & 

Chief Executive Officer
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From humble beginnings in 1864 with a single location, to 10 

locations and over $700 million in assets in 2024, Pennian Bank has been along a transformational journey. 

Though community banking has changed over 160 years, one thing remains the same; our dedication to our 

customers and the communities we serve. We have remained an independent bank, which we celebrate this 

year, along with many other successes. Take a look below as we travel through the last 160 years and highlight 

some pivotal moments of our journey.
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Pennian Bank employees know the value of giving back to their communities 

through volunteerism. Employees are given a full day of Volunteer Time Off 

to spend at an organization of their choice. Additionally, many employees 

serve on boards for nonprofit organizations and volunteer their free time 

helping those in need in our communities. 

In fact, in 2023, employees volunteered nearly 1900 hours of their time 

to a variety of organizations. 

While time is a precious resource to many organizations, so are donations. 

We know the importance of giving back to nonprofits that provide critical 

services in our communities. Pennian Bank has prioritized giving thousands 

of dollars a year to local organizations that help our communities thrive. 

We also provide annual corporate donations to our area food banks, as well 

as give our employees the opportunity to divert money from their paychecks 

to go to local food banks. For many years, we have been fortunate to 

participate in the Pennsylvania Educational Improvement Tax Credit (EITC) 

Program, which allows us to donate to local, eligible education organizations. 

In 2023, we donated to area organizations such as the Greenwood Wildcat 

Foundation, Newport Buffalo Foundation, Juniata Christian School and the 

West Shore Foundation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Board of Directors  
First Community Financial Corporation 
Mif�lintown, Pennsylvania 

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated �inancial statements of First Community Financial 
Corporation and its subsidiaries (the Corporation), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, 
shareholders’ equity, and cash �lows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated 
�inancial statements. 

In our opinion, the consolidated �inancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the �inancial position of the Corporation and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and 
the results of their operations and their cash �lows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the Corporation and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements related to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suf�icient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated �inancial statements, the Corporation adopted Accounting 
Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326).  Our opinion is not 
modi�ied with respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated �inancial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and 
for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of consolidated �inancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated �inancial statements, management is required to evaluate whether 
there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the 
Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated 
�inancial statements are available to be issued. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated �inancial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would in�luence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated �inancial 
statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated �inancial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the �inancial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of signi�icant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
�inancial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time.  

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, signi�icant audit �indings, and certain internal control 
related matters that we identi�ied during the audit. 

Other Information Included in the Corporation’s Annual Report

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other 
information comprises management’s letters to shareholders, summary of selected �inancial data and 
quarterly �inancial data  but does not include the consolidated �inancial statements and our auditor's report 
thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated �inancial statements does not cover the other information, and we 
do not express an opinion or any form of assurance on it. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated �inancial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and 
the consolidated �inancial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other 
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

 
Hagerstown, Maryland 
February 26, 2024 
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FIRST COMMUNITY FINANCIAL CORPORATION 

See notes to consolidated financial statements                       8  

 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
 

 December 31, 
 2023  2022 
 (In Thousands, Except Share Data) 

ASSETS 
Cash and due from banks $      12,184    $    21,352 
Interest-bearing demand deposits 258  1,093 
Federal funds sold 1,680  1,410 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 14,122             23,855 

    
Time certificates of deposit 199  199 
Securities available for sale 187,700  187,373 
    
Loans 470,204  458,949 
Less: Allowance for loan losses (6,013)  (5,172) 
Plus: Deferred loan costs, net 2,347  2,147 
          Net loans 466,538  455,924 
    
Premises and equipment, net 4,787  5,051 
Restricted investment in bank stocks 3,299  3,483 
Investment in life insurance 13,186  13,051 
Interest rate swap asset 4,267  4,910 
Other assets 13,447  13,925 

 
Total Assets $   707,545  $  707,771 

 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

LIABILITIES 

Deposits:    
 Non-interest bearing $    108,811     $    123,148    
 Interest-bearing  451,256  461,525 

 
Total Deposits 560,067  584,673 

    
Short-term borrowings 28,000  42,009 
FHLB and FRB term advances 69,000  33,000 
Junior subordinated debt 5,155  5,155 
Other liabilities 5,023  5,767 

 
Total Liabilities    667,245  670,604 

 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Preferred stock, without par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized and unissued -  - 
Common stock, $5 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized;  

Shares issued, 2023 – 2,832,036; 2022 – 2,832,036 
     Shares outstanding, 2023 – 2,829,567; 2022 – 2,829,567 14,160 

 

14,160 
Capital in excess of par value 720  720 
Retained earnings 41,137  42,131    
Treasury stock, at cost 2023 – 2,469 shares; 2022 – 2,469 shares  (72)  (72) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (15,645)  (19,772) 

 
Total Shareholders’ Equity 40,300  37,167 

 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 707,545  $ 707,771 

CONSOLIDATED	BALANCE	SHEETS

See notes to consolidated 
financial statements
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FIRST COMMUNITY FINANCIAL CORPORATION 

See notes to consolidated financial statements                       9  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
           Years Ended December, 31,  
  2023    2022    
 (In Thousands, Except per Share Data)  
INTEREST INCOME 

Loans, including fees $  22,494  $  18,682  
Securities:     
  Taxable 3,050  2,824  
 Tax exempt 1,721  1,748  
Other 685  297  

 
Total Interest Income 27,950  23,551  

 
INTEREST EXPENSE 

Deposits 8,624  2,177  
Short-term borrowings, net 1,486  480  
Long-term debt 1,232  649  

 
Total Interest Expense 11,342  3,306  

 
Net Interest Income 16,608  20,245  

 
PROVISION FOR LOAN LOSSES 1,645  550  
 

Net Interest Income after Provision for Loan Losses 14,963  19,695  
 

OTHER INCOME 
Service charges on deposits 857  760  
Fiduciary activities 680  678  
Earnings on investment in life insurance 419  301  
ATM and debit card fees 1,054  964  
Unrealized (losses) on equity securities (86)  (83)  
Realized gains on sales of other real estate owned 8  -  
Mutual fund commissions 664  602  
Other 263  279  

 
Total Other Income 3,859  3,501  

 

OTHER EXPENSES 
Employee compensation and benefits 9,531  8,973  
Net occupancy and equipment 1,465  1,587  
Professional fees 749  647  
Director and advisory boards compensation 473  409  
ATM expenses 341  395  
Supplies and postage 315  465  
FDIC expense 544  390  
Pennsylvania bank shares tax 339  416  
Advertising 421  346  
Internet banking 772  860  
Information systems 1,068  961  
Telecommunications 501  486  
Other operating 1,361  1,280  

 

Total Other Expenses 17,880  17,215  
 

Income before Income Taxes 942  5,981  
 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES (257)  739  
 

Net Income $ 1,199    $   5,242  

CONSOLIDATED	STATEMENTS	OF	INCOME	AND	
COMPREHENSIVE	INCOME

See notes to consolidated 
financial statements



10 | FIRST COMMUNITY FINANCIAL CORPORATION

FIRST COMMUNITY FINANCIAL CORPORATION 

See notes to consolidated financial statements                       10  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(CONTINUED) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

           Years Ended December 31,  
  2023    2022  
 (In Thousands, Except per Share Data)  
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME     
     Unrealized gains(losses) on investment securities, net of tax 4,634  (25,647)  
     Unrealized gains(losses) on cash flow hedge, net of tax       (507)  2,673  
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME(LOSS) 4,127  (22,974)  
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME(LOSS) 5,326  (17,732)  
 

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

            $    0.42 
  

$     1.85 
 

 
DIVIDENDS PER SHARE      $    0.64  $    0.80  

CONSOLIDATED	STATEMENTS	OF	
INCOME	AND	COMPREHENSIVE	INCOME	(CONTINUED)

See notes to consolidated 
financial statements
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FIRST COMMUNITY FINANCIAL CORPORATION 

See notes to consolidated financial statements                       11  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 
 

 
  

 
 
 

Common Stock 

  
Capital 

In Excess 
of 

Par Value 

  
 

 
Retained 
Earnings 

  
 
 

Treasury 
Stock 

  
Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehensive 
Income (Loss) 

 

  
 
 
 

Total 

   (In Thousands, Except per Share Data)   
            

Balance - January 1, 2022  $  14,160    $  720    $  39,153    $     (72)    $    3,202   $  57,163 
            
Comprehensive income:            
Net income             5,242            5,242 
Change in net unrealized losses               

on securities available for sale and                           
net unrealized gain on cash flow  
hedge, net of 

           

deferred income taxes         (22,974)  (22,974) 
Total comprehensive income                 (17,732) 
            
Cash dividends, $0.80 per share     (2,264)      (2,264) 
            

Balance, December 31, 2022  $  14,160    $  720    $  42,131    $     (72)    $  (19,772)         $  37,167 
            
Cumulative change in accounting 
principle, net of tax 

    (381)      (381) 

            
Comprehensive income:            
Net income            1,199            1,199 
Change in net unrealized gains               

on securities available for sale, and 
net unrealized losses on cash flow 
hedge, net of  

           

deferred income taxes         4,127  4,127 
                 
Total comprehensive income           5,326 

 
 

Cash dividends, $0.64 per share     (1,812)      (1,812) 
                          
            
              Balance, December 31, 2023               $ 14,160                     $ 720             $  41,137    $     (72)              $  (15,645)                    $  40,300    
 
 

CONSOLIDATED	STATEMENTS	OF	
SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY

See notes to consolidated 
financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
 Years Ended December 31    
            2023                                           2022        
 (In Thousands)    
       
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net income $  1,199  $  5,242  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 

activities:     
 Depreciation of premises and equipment 553  546  
 Net amortization of debt investment securities 420  595  
 Earnings on investment in life insurance (419)  (301)  
     Realized (gains) on sale of other real estate owned (8)  -  
     Unrealized losses on equity securities 86  83  
 Provision for loan losses 1,645  550  
 Deferred income taxes (61)  (114)  
 (Increase) decrease in accrued interest receivable and other assets (260)   (148)  
 (Increase) decrease in accrued interest payable and other liabilities (743)  360  

 
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 2,412  6,813  

 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Securities available for sale:     
 Proceeds from maturities, calls and principal repayments 14,638  25,709  
 Purchases (9,605)  (12,658)  
Net (increase) in loans (12,724)  (52,117)  
Purchases of premises and equipment (536)  (314)  
Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned 92  -  
Proceeds from life insurance 233  113  
Net (purchases) disposition of restricted investment in bank stocks 184  (1,432)  

 
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (7,718)  (40,699)  

 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Net increase (decrease) in deposits (24,606)  (4,859)  
Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings (14,009)  38,859  
Net increase (decrease) in long-term debt  36,000  (5,000)  

     Cash dividends paid                              (1,812)                        (2,264) 
     
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Financing Activities (4,427)  26,736  

 
Net (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (9,733)  (7,150)  

 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING 23,855  31,005  
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ENDING $   14,122  $   23,855  

 
UNRESTRICTED AND RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS: 
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents        $      1,200       $      1,200 
    Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents              12,922             22,655 
           $    14,122       $    23,855  
SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOWS INFORMATION 

Interest paid $    11,063  $    3,173  
 

Income taxes paid $       243   $       830  
 
Non-cash investing activities 
       

  
        

 

      Unrealized gain (loss) on debt securities available for sale – net of tax            $        4,634                 $     (25,647)           
 
      Unrealized gain on interest rate swap – net of tax                      $      (507)                     $     2,673   
 
      Other real estate acquired in settlement of loans                      $           84                   $            0     
  

CONSOLIDATED	STATEMENTS	OF	CASH	FLOWS

See notes to consolidated 
financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies 

 
First Community Financial Corporation (the Corporation) through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Pennian Bank 
(the Bank), provides loan, deposit, trust and other related financial services through ten full service banking 
offices in Cumberland, Juniata and Perry Counties of Pennsylvania.  The Corporation’s other subsidiary, First 
Community Financial Capital Trust I (the Trust), was established during December 2003 for the purpose of 
issuing $5,000,000 of trust preferred securities. On June 29, 2017, the bank changed from a National-
Chartered bank to a Pennsylvania State-chartered bank. The Bank’s name was changed from The First 
National Bank of Mifflintown to Pennian Bank on July 1, 2017. In February 2019 the Bank formed a 
subsidiary insurance agency. The Corporation is subject to regulation and supervision by the Federal Reserve 
Board and the Bank is subject to regulation and supervision by the Pennsylvania Department of Banking and 
the FDIC.  
 

Principles of Consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation, and its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, the Bank and the Trust. In consolidation, significant intercompany accounts and transactions 
between the Bank and the Corporation have been eliminated. The Trust qualifies as a variable interest entity 
and is therefore consolidated within. The subordinated debt of the Trust is reflected as a liability of the 
Corporation. 

Subsequent Events 

The Corporation has evaluated events and transactions occurring subsequent to the balance sheet date of 
December 31, 2023, for items that should potentially be recognized or disclosed in these consolidated 
financial statements. The evaluation was conducted through February 26, 2024 the date these consolidated 
financial statements were available to be issued. 
 

Basis of Accounting 

The Corporation uses the accrual basis of accounting. 
 

Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of 
the balance sheet dates, and the reported amounts of income and expenses for the years then ended. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. The material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant 
change in the near term are the determination of the allowance for loan losses, the evaluation of other-than-
temporary impairment of securities, the valuation of foreclosed real estate and deferred tax assets.  
 
While management uses available information to recognize losses on loans, future additions to the allowance 
may be necessary based on changes in local economic conditions. In addition, regulatory agencies, as an 
integral part of their examination process, periodically review the Bank’s allowance for losses on loans. Such 
agencies may require the Bank to recognize additions to the allowance based on their judgments about 
information available to them at the time of their examination. Because of these factors, management’s 
estimate of credit losses inherent in the loan portfolio and the related allowance may change in the near term. 
However, the amount of the change that is reasonably possible cannot be estimated. 
  

Trust Department Assets  

Assets held by the Trust Department in an agency or fiduciary capacity for its customers are excluded from 
the consolidated financial statements since they do not constitute assets of the Corporation. The market value 
of assets held by the Trust Department amounted to $82,257,000 and $81,233,000 at December 31, 2023 and 
2022, respectively. Income from fiduciary activities is recognized on the accrual method.  
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk  

Most of the Corporation’s activities are with customers located within the Central Pennsylvania region. Note 
3 discusses the types of securities in which the Corporation invests. Note 4 discusses the types of lending that 
the Corporation engages in. The Corporation does not have any significant concentrations in any one 
customer or industry, except for agricultural loans as disclosed in Note 4.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and due from banks, interest bearing demand deposits, federal funds 
sold and investments with an original maturity of 90 days or less. Federal funds are typically purchased and 
sold for one day periods. At times, the Corporation may have due from bank balances with its correspondent 
banks that exceed the federally insured limits, which management considers to be normal and acceptable 
business risk. 

Securities 

Management determines the appropriate classification of debt securities at the time of purchase and re-
evaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date. Securities available for sale are those debt securities 
that the Corporation intends to hold for an indefinite period of time, but not necessarily to maturity. Any 
decision to sell an available for sale debt security would be based on various factors. These securities are 
stated at fair value.  Unrealized gains (losses) are reported as changes in other comprehensive income, a 
component of shareholders’ equity, net of the related deferred tax effect. Premiums and discounts are 
recognized as interest income over the estimated lives of the securities, using the interest method. Securities 
held to maturity are those debt securities that the Corporation has the intent and ability to hold to maturity.  
These debt securities are stated at cost adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts, 
which is recognized as interest income over their estimated lives, using the interest method. Equity securities 
unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive 
income. Gains and losses on the sale of securities are recorded on the trade date and are determined using the 
specific identification method. 

Management evaluates securities for other-than-temporary impairment at least on a quarterly basis, and more 
frequently when economic or market concerns warrant such evaluation. Consideration is given to (1) the 
length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, (2) the financial condition and 
near-term prospects of the issuer, and (3) for equity securities, the intent and ability of the Corporation to 
retain its investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair 
value. Other than temporary impairment (OTTI) loss is recognized in earnings through the consolidated 
statements of income and comprehensive income in the period in which OTTI loss is incurred, except for the 
non-credit component of OTTI losses on debt securities, which are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. 

Investments of the Corporation are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, market, currency and credit 
risks. Market risks include global events which could impact the value of investment securities, such as a 
pandemic or international conflict. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is at 
least reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment securities will occur in the near term and 
that such changes could materially affect investment assets reported in the financial statements. 

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards:  Securities 
 
  Under the recently adopted accounting standard for Current Expected Credit Losses (CECL), management 

determines the appropriate classification of debt securities at the time of purchase and re-evaluates such 
designation as of each balance sheet date. This is explained in more detail in Note 1 under “Recently Adopted 
Accounting Standards:  Current Expected Credit Losses (CECL)”.  Securities available for sale are those debt 
securities that the Corporation intends to hold for an indefinite period of time, but not necessarily to maturity. 
Any decision to sell an available for sale debt security would be based on various factors. These securities are 
stated at fair value. Unrealized gains (losses) are reported as changed in other comprehensive income, a  
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards: Securities (Continued) 

component of shareholders’ equity, net of the related deferred tax effect. Premiums and discounts are 
recognized as interest income over the estimated lives of the securities, using the interest method. Securities 
held to maturity are those debt securities that the Corporation has the intent and ability to hold to maturity. 
These debt securities are stated at cost adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts, 
which is recognized as interest income over their estimated lives, using the interest method. Equity securities 
unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive 
income. Gains and losses on the sale of securities are recorded on the trade date and are determined using the 
specific identification method.  On a quarterly basis, held to maturity debt securities are measured for 
expected credit losses on a collective (pool) basis by major security type. The Corporation held no securities 
classified as held to maturity at or during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.  At least quarterly, 
available for sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position are evaluated individually for impairment. A 
debt security is deemed impaired if the fair value of the investment is less than its amortized cost. The 
Corporation considers both its intent to sell and the likelihood that it will not have to sell the investment 
securities before recovery of their amortized cost basis during its evaluation. If the Corporation intends to sell 
the investment security or it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell the investment security, the 
entire impairment is recorded in earnings. For available for sale securities that do not meet these criteria, the 
Corporation evaluates whether the decline in fair value has resulted from credit losses or other factors. In 
making this assessment, consideration is given to the issuer of the securities and their creditworthiness, any 
changes to the rating of the security and any adverse conditions specifically related to the security, among 
other factors. Also, the business and financial outlook of the issuer, as well as broader economic performance 
indicators, may be evaluated. If this assessment indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value of cash 
flows expected to be collected from the security is compared to the amortized cost basis of the security. If the 
present value of cash flows expected to be collected is less than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss exists 
and an allowance for credit losses is recorded for the credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair value is 
less than amortized cost. Any impairment that has not been recorded through an allowance for credit losses is 
recognized in other comprehensive income.  Changes in the allowance for credit losses are recorded as 
provision for (or reversal of ) credit loss expense. Losses are charged against the allowance when 
management believes the available for sale debt security is confirmed as uncollectible or when there is an 
intent or requirement to sell the security.  The Corporation has elected to exclude accrued interest receivable 
on available for sale debt securities from the allowance for credit losses calculation. A debt security is placed 
on nonaccrual status at the time any principal or interest payments become 90 days past due. The receivable 
for interest income that is accrued but not collected is reversed against interest income when the debt security 
is placed on nonaccrual status.  
 

Time Certificates of Deposit 

Time certificates of deposit are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.  
 
Loans  

The Bank grants commercial, residential and consumer loans to customers primarily within Juniata, Perry, 
Cumberland, and Dauphin Counties of Pennsylvania and the surrounding area. A large portion of the loan 
portfolio is secured by real estate. Although the Bank has a diversified loan portfolio, its debtors’ ability to 
honor their contracts is influenced by the region’s economy. 

Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff 
are stated at their outstanding unpaid principal balances, net of an allowance for credit losses and any deferred 
fees or costs. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Loan origination fees, net of related 
costs, are deferred and recognized as an adjustment of the yield (interest income) of the related loans. The 
Corporation is generally amortizing these amounts over the contractual life of the loan. 
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
Loans (Continued) 

 
Loan delinquency is measured based on the number of days since the payment due date. The Corporation 
considers a loan as past due when the payment is 30 days delinquent. Loans less than 90 days delinquent are 
deemed to have an insignificant delay in payment and generally continue to accrue interest. The accrual of 
interest is generally discontinued when the contractual payment of principal or interest has become 90 to 120 
days past due, or management has significant doubts about further collectability of principal or interest even 
though the loan is currently performing. A loan may remain on accrual status if it is in the process of 
collection and is either guaranteed or well secured. When a loan is placed on non-accrual status, unpaid 
interest credited to income is reversed. Interest received on non-accrual loans generally is either applied 
against principal or reported as interest income, according to management’s judgment as to the collectability 
of principal. Generally, loans are restored to accrual status when the obligation is brought current, has 
performed in accordance with the contractual terms for a reasonable period of time and the ultimate 
collectability of the total contractual principal and interest is no longer in doubt. When management 
determines that the Bank will not be able to collect the entire outstanding principal from either primary or 
secondary repayment sources, management recommends for charge-off the amount of principal that exceeds 
the liquidation value (orderly or forced) of the collateral or the entire principal balance if unsecured.  

 
Loan Risk Assessment: 
 

The Bank has a diverse loan portfolio with varying degrees of risk within each segment of the                  
portfolios as discussed below. 

  
Commercial – 

 
a. Commercial and industrial loans include loans to businesses for general commercial purposes 

and include permanent and short-term working capital, machinery and equipment financing, 
and may be either in the form of lines of credit, demand, or term loans. Some commercial and 
industrial loans may be unsecured to higher-rated customers, but the majority of these loans 
are secured by the borrower’s accounts receivable, inventory and machinery and equipment. 
The collateral may also include the business real estate or the business owner’s personal real 
estate or assets. Commercial and industrial loans have credit exposure since they are more 
susceptible to risk of loss during a downturn in the economy as borrowers may have greater 
difficulty in meeting their debt service requirements and the value of the collateral may 
decline. 

 
b. Obligations of state and political subdivisions in the U.S. loans are generally backed by the 

full faith, credit and taxing power of the governmental entity. 
 

c. Commercial construction and land development loans are also included in this segment. The 
risk of loss on these loans is contingent on the assessment of the property’s value at the 
completion of the project, which should exceed the property’s construction costs. A number 
of factors can negatively affect the project during the construction phase such as cost 
overruns, delays in completing the project, competition, and real estate market conditions 
which may change based on the supply of similar properties in the area. If the collateral value 
at the completion of the project is not sufficient to cover the outstanding loan balance,  
repayment of the loan would potentially need to rely on other repayment sources, including 
the guarantors of the project or other collateral securing the loan. 
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
Loan Risk Assessment (Continued) 
 

Commercial Real Estate –  
 

a. Owner-occupied commercial real estate loans are generally dependent upon the successful 
operation of the borrower’s business, with the cash flows generated from the business being 
the primary source of repayment of these loans. If the business suffers a downturn in sales or 
profitability, the borrower’s ability to repay the loan could be in jeopardy, which could 
increase the risk of loss. 
 

b. Non-owner occupied and multi-family commercial real estate loans are dependent on the 
borrower’s ability to generate a sufficient level of occupancy to produce rental income that 
exceeds debt service requirements and operating expenses. Lower occupancy or lease rates 
may result in a reduction in cash flows, which may affect the ability of the borrower to meet 
debt service requirements, and may result in lower collateral values, which represents a 
higher inherent risk than owner-occupied commercial loans. 

 
 Agricultural –  
 

Farm and agricultural loans consist of commercial loans to local, family-owned farms for 
operation of farm activities including raising and selling cattle or milk produced, raising and 
selling poultry, and raising and selling crops. The risks to repayment of farm loans include 
unfavorable weather conditions that can affect the production of crops for sale or feed, milk 
production and mortality rates of cattle and poultry that can be affected if cattle or poultry 
become ill, and milk or other commodity prices paid which can vary depending on market 
prices and government subsidies. Collateral for these types of loans typically consists of farm 
real estate, but can also include equipment, livestock and crops. 

 
 Residential –  
 

a. 1-4 family owner-occupied real estate loans include fixed and adjustable-rate first and junior-
lien mortgage loans with the underlying 1-4 family owner-occupied residential property 
securing the loan. Risk exposure is mitigated somewhat through the evaluation of the credit 
worthiness of the borrower, including credit scores and debt-to-income ratios, and limits on 
the loan-to-value ratios. 
 

b. Home equity term loans and lines of credit represent a slightly higher risk than 1-4 family 
first liens, as these loans can be first or second liens on 1-4 family owner occupied residential 
property, but there are loan-to-value limits on the value of the real estate taken as collateral. 
The credit worthiness of the borrower is considered including credit scores and debt-to-
income ratios. 

 
c. Non-owner occupied 1-4 family residential loans are dependent on the borrower’s ability to 

generate a sufficient level of occupancy to produce rental income that exceeds debt service 
requirements and operating expenses. Lower occupancy or lease rates may result in a 
reduction in cash flows, which may affect the ability of the borrower to meet debt service 
requirements, and may result in lower collateral values, which represents a higher inherent 
risk than owner-occupied 1-4 family residential loans. 
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
Loan Risk Assessment (Continued) 

Consumer –  
 

Installment and other consumer loan credit risk is mitigated through evaluation of the credit 
worthiness of the borrower through credit scores and debt-to-income ratios and, if secured, 
the collateral value of the assets. However, these loans can be unsecured or secured by assets 
that may depreciate quickly or may fluctuate and represent a greater risk than 1-4 family 
residential loans. 

 

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards:  Current Expected Credit Losses (CECL) 
 

Effective January 1, 2023, the Company adopted Accountant Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-13 (Topic 
326) Financial Instruments – Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which 
eliminated the probable initial recognition threshold for credit losses and instead requires that all financial 
assets (or group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost be presented at the net amount expected to be 
collected inclusive of the entity’s current estimate of all lifetime expected credit losses. This guidance also 
applies to certain off-balance sheet credit exposures such as unfunded commitments and non-derivative 
financial guarantees. 
 
The Corporation adopted ASC 326 using the modified retrospective transition approach for all financial assets 
measured at amortized cost and off-balance sheet exposures. This method resulted in recording a cumulative-
effect adjustment as of the beginning of 2023 with no change to prior periods.  
 
Additionally, ASC 326 made changes to the accounting for available for sale debt securities. ASC 326 
requires credit losses to be presented as an allowance, rather than as a write-down, on available for sale debt 
securities management does not intend to sell or believes that it is more likely than not they will be required to 
sell. The Corporation adopted ASC 326 using the prospective transition approach for debt securities for which 
other-than-temporary impairment had been recognized prior to January 1, 2023. The effect of a prospective 
transition approach is to maintain the same amortized cost basis before and after the effective date of ASC 
326. The Corporation did not record a cumulative-effect adjustment related to its available for sale securities 
upon adoption of ASC 326. 
 
The Corporation elected not to measure an allowance for credit losses on accrued interest receivable on loans 
receivable or accrued interest receivable on available for sale debt securities as the Corporation’s policy is to 
reverse interest income for uncollectible accrued interest receivable balances in a timely manner. Effective 
January 1, 2023, the Corporation adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2022-02, Financial 
Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage Disclosure. This ASU 
eliminates the accounting guidance for troubled debt restructurings (“TDRs”) and requires that the 
Corporation evaluate, based on the accounting for loan modifications, whether the borrower is experiencing 
financial difficulty and the modification results in a more-than-insignificant direct change in the contractual 
cash flows and represents a new loan or a continuation of an existing loan, which the Corporation refers to as 
troubled loan modifications. This change required all loan modifications to be accounted for under the general 
loan modification guidance in ASC 310-20 Receivables – Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs, and subjects 
entities to new disclosure requirements on loan modifications to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. 
Upon adoption of ASC 326, the troubled debt restructurings were evaluated and included in the loan segment 
pools if the loans shared similar risk characteristics to other loans in the pool or remained with loans 
individually evaluated for which the allowance for credit losses was measured using the collateral-dependent 
or discounted cash flow method. The Corporation adopted ASU 2022-02 using a modified retrospective 
transition approach which did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.  As a result 
of the adoption of ASC 326 (CECL), the Corporation recognized a decrease of $381,000 in retained earnings 
as of January 1, 2023 for the cumulative effect of the adoption. 
 



2023 ANNUAL REPORT | 19 

 

19 

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses 
 

The allowance for credit losses represents the amount that, in management’s judgment, appropriately reflects 
credit losses inherent in the loan portfolio at the balance sheet date. Loans deemed to be uncollectible are 
charged against the allowance for credit losses on loans, and subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the 
allowance for credit losses on loans when received. Changes to the allowance for credit losses are recorded 
through the provision for credit losses in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income. 
 
The allowance for credit losses is maintained at a level considered appropriate to absorb credit losses over the 
expected life of the loan. The allowance for credit losses is determined based on a quantitative assessment of 
two categories of loans: collectively (pooled) evaluated loans and individually evaluated loans. In addition, 
the allowance for credit losses also includes a qualitative component which adjusts the CECL model results 
for risk factors that are not considered within the CECL model, but are relevant in assessing the expected 
credit losses within the loan classes. 
 
Management has adopted a 9-point risk rating scale to measure and manage credit risk within the loan 
portfolio. The first five levels, representing the lowest risk, are combined and given a “Pass” rating: Level 1 – 
minimal risk; Level 2 – moderate risk; Level 3 – average risk; Level 4 – acceptable risk; or Level 5 – 
marginally acceptable risk. Management generally follows regulatory definitions in assigning criticized 
ratings to loans: Level 6 – “Special Mention;” Level 7 – “Substandard;” Level 8 – “Doubtful;” or Level 9 – 
“Loss.” Special Mention loans have potential weaknesses that may, if not checked or corrected, weaken the 
asset or inadequately protect the Corporation’s position at some future date. These assets pose elevated risk, 
but their weakness does not yet justify a more severe or classified rating. Substandard loans are classified as 
they have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize liquidation of the debt. These loans are 
characterized by the distinct possibility that the Corporation will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not 
corrected. A Doubtful loan has a high probability of total or substantial loss, but because of specific pending 
events that may strengthen the asset, its classification as Loss is deferred. Loss loans are considered 
uncollectible, as the borrowers are often in bankruptcy, have suspended debt repayments, or have ceased 
business operations. Once a loan is classified as Loss, there is little prospect of collecting the loan’s principal 
or interest and it is charged-off. 
 
The Corporation has a loan review policy and program which is designed to identify and monitor risk in the 
lending function. Semi-annually, an independent third-party performs a loan review of a sample of the loan 
portfolio. Quarterly, all criticized and classified loans graded Level 6 and higher are reviewed by 
management. 
 
The allowance for credit losses is measured on a collective basis when similar risk characteristics exist within 
the Corporation’s loan segments between commercial and consumer. For purposes of estimating the 
Corporation’s allowance for credit losses, management generally evaluates collectively evaluated loans by 
federal call code in order to group loans with similar risk characteristics. Each of these loan segments are 
broken down into multiple loan classes, which are characterized by loan type, collateral type, risk attributions 
and the manner in which management monitors the performance of the borrower. The risks associated with 
lending activities differ and are subject to the impact of change in interest rates, market conditions and the 
impact on the collateral securing the loans, and general economic conditions. The commercial loan segments 
include commercial real estate, acquisition and development, commercial and industrial, agriculture, and 
municipal loan classes. The consumer loan segments include residential mortgage, installment and other 
consumer loans. 
 
Loans collectively evaluated includes loans on accrual status, except for loans previously restructured that do 
not share similar risk characteristics which are individually evaluated. The allowance for credit losses for 
loans collectively evaluated is measured using a lifetime expected loss rate model that considers historical 
loss performance and past events in addition to forecasts of future economic conditions. The Corporation  
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
Allowance for Credit Losses (Continued) 

elected to used the discounted cash flow methodology for the quantitative analysis for all of its loan segments, 
which applies the probability of default, using a loss driver model and loss given default factors to future cash  
flows, and then adjusts to the net present value to derive the required reserve. The probability of default 
estimates is derived through the application of reasonable and supportable economic forecasts to the 
regression models, which incorporates the Corporation’s and peer loss-rate data, unemployment rate and 
GDP. The reasonable and supportable forecasts of the selected economic metrics are then input into the 
regression model to calculate an expected default rate. The Corporation has elected  to forecast for the first 
four quarters of the credit loss estimate and revert on a straight-line basis. The expected default rates are then 
applied to expected loan balances estimated through the consideration of contractual repayment terms and 
expected prepayments. The prepayment and curtailment assumptions adjust the contractual terms of the loan 
to arrive at the expected cash flows. The development and validation of credit models also included 
determining the length of the reasonable and supportable forecast and regression period and utilizing national 
and/or regional peer group historical loss rates. Management selected the national unemployment rate and 
GDP as the drivers of the quantitative portion of collectively evaluated reserves on loan classes reliant upon 
the discounted cash flow methodology, primarily as a result of high correlation coefficients identified in 
regression modeling. For agriculture, consumer, and municipal loan segments, the quantitative reserve was 
calculated using third-party credit risk benchmark loss given default inputs. 
 
Loans that do not share similar risk characteristics are evaluated on an individual basis and are excluded from 
the collective evaluation for the allowance for credit losses. Loans evaluated individually for expected credit 
losses include loans on nonaccrual status, and may include accruing loans that do not share similar risk 
characteristics to other accruing loans collectively evaluated, where the total credit exposure of the borrowing 
relationship is $250,000 or more. In addition, loans evaluated individually for expected credit losses may 
include loans where the total credit exposure is less than $250,000 if the loan was ever individually evaluated. 
A specific reserve analysis is applied to the individually evaluated loans, which considers collateral value, an 
observable market price or the present value of expected cash flows. A specific reserve may be assigned if the 
measured value of the loan using one of the before mentioned methods is less than the current carrying value 
of the loan. 
 
A loan is considered collateral-dependent when the Corporation determines foreclosure is probable or the 
borrower is experiencing financial difficulty and the Corporation expects repayment to be provided 
substantially through the operation or sale of the collateral. Collateral could be in the form of real estate, 
equipment or business assets. An allowance for credit losses may result for a collateral-dependent loan if the 
fair value of the underlying collateral, as of the reporting date, adjusted for expected costs to repair or sell, 
was less than the amortized cost basis of the loan. If repayment of the loan is instead dependent only on the 
operation, rather than the sale of the collateral, the measure of the allowance for credit losses does not 
incorporate estimated costs to sell. For loans analyzed on the basis of projected future principal and interest 
cash flows, the Corporation will discount the expected cash flows at the effective interest rate of the loan, and 
an allowance for credit losses would result if the present value of cash flows was less than the amortized cost 
basis of the loan. 
 
Based on management’s analysis, adjustments may be applied for additional factors impacting the risk of loss 
in the loan portfolio beyond the quantitatively calculated reserve on collectively evaluated loans. As the 
quantitative reserve calculation incorporates historical conditions, management may consider an additional or 
reduced reserve is warranted through qualitative risk factors based on current and expected conditions. These 
qualitative risk factors considered by management are comparable to legacy factors prior to the adoption of 
ASC 326 and include significant or unexpected changes in: 
• Changes in lending policies, procedures and strategies 
• Changes in nature and volume of portfolio 
• Staff experience 
• Changes in volume and trends in classified loans, delinquencies and nonaccrual 
• Concentration risk 
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
Allowance for Credit Losses (Continued) 
 

• Trends in underlying collateral value 
• External factors: competition, legal, regulatory 
• Changes in quality of the loan review system 
• Economic conditions 

 
For off-balance sheet credit exposures, the Corporation estimates expected credit losses over the contractual 
period in which the Corporation is exposed to credit risk from the contractual obligation to extend credit, 
unless that obligation is unconditionally cancellable by the Corporation. The allowance for credit losses on 
off-balance sheet credit exposures includes consideration of the utilization rates expected on the loan 
commitments, and estimates the expected credit losses for the undrawn commitments by the loan segments. 
The allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures is recorded in other liabilities on the 
consolidated balance sheet and is adjusted through the provision for credit losses in the consolidated 
statement of income. 
 
Quarterly, a comprehensive analysis of the allowance for credit losses is performed by the Corporation. 
Management evaluates the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses utilizing a defined methodology to 
determine if it properly addresses the current and expected risks in the loan portfolio, which considers the 
performance of borrowers and specific evaluation of individually evaluated loans including historical loss 
experiences, trends in delinquencies, nonperforming loans and other risk assets, and the qualitative factors. 
Risk factors are continuously reviewed and adjusted, as needed, by management when conditions support a 
change. Management believes its approach properly addresses relevant accounting and bank regulatory 
guidance for loans both collectively and individually evaluated. 
 

Restricted Investment in Bank Stocks 

Restricted investment in bank stocks represents required investments in the common stock of correspondent 
banks, including Atlantic Community Bankers Bank in the amount of $20,000, and the Federal Home Loan  
Bank (FHLB) of Pittsburgh in the amount of $3,279,000 at December 31, 2023. At December 31, 2022, the 
required investment in Atlantic Community Bankers Bank was $20,000 and the Federal Home Loan Bank 
(FHLB) of Pittsburgh was $3,463,000. No readily available market exists for these stocks. These restricted 
investments are carried at cost, which is considered to be fair value.    
 
Management evaluates the restricted stock for impairment in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 942, 
Financial Services – Depository and Lending.  Management’s determination of whether these investments are  
impaired is based on their assessment of the ultimate recoverability of their cost rather than by recognizing 
temporary declines in value.  The determination of whether a decline affects the ultimate recoverability of 
their cost is influenced by criteria such as (1) the significance of the decline in net assets of the entity as 
compared to the capital stock amount and the length of time this situation has persisted, (2) commitments by 
the entity to make payments required by law or regulation and the level of such payments in relation to the 
operating performance of the entity, and (3) the impact of legislative and regulatory changes on institutions 
and, accordingly, on the customer base of the entity. 

Management believes no impairment charge is necessary related to its restricted stock as of December 31, 
2023 or 2022. 

Premises and Equipment 

Land is carried at cost. The Corporation capitalizes any assets with a cost of $5,000 or greater.  Premises and 
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation computed on the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated 
useful lives or the lease terms. Maintenance and repairs are expensed when incurred and expenditures for 
significant improvements are capitalized.  
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Foreclosed Real Estate 

Foreclosed real estate includes assets acquired through foreclosure and loans identified as in- substance 
foreclosures. A loan is classified as an in-substance foreclosure when the Corporation has taken possession of 
the collateral regardless of whether formal foreclosure proceedings have been commenced. Foreclosed real 
estate is initially valued at its estimated fair market value, net of anticipated selling costs, at the time of 
foreclosure, establishing the property’s new basis. Subsequent to foreclosure, valuations are periodically 
performed by management and the foreclosed assets are carried at the lower of carrying amount or fair value 
less cost to sell. Gains and losses on the sale of foreclosed real estate and write-downs from periodic 
revaluations on foreclosed real estate are included in other income, while incurred expenses on foreclosed 
real estate are included in other expenses. There was no foreclosed real estate at December 31, 2023 or 2022. 

Transfers of Financial Assets 

Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales when control over the assets has been surrendered.  
Control over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the assets have been isolated from the 
Corporation, (2) the transferee obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of 
that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and (3) the Corporation does not maintain effective 
control over the transferred assets through an agreement to repurchase them before their maturity.  

Derivative Financial Instruments 

The Corporation’s asset liability and risk management activities include the use of a derivative to mitigate risk 
to the Corporation. The Corporation’s goal in using an interest rate derivative is to manage interest rate 
sensitivity and volatility so that movements in interest rates do not significantly adversely affect earnings or 
capital.  
 
The Corporation records all derivatives on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. Fair value is based on 
dealer quotes, pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies or similar techniques for which the 
determination of fair value may require significant judgment or estimation.  
 
At inception, the Corporation formally documents all relationships between the hedging instrument and hedged 
items, as well as the risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking the hedge. The Corporation 
assesses the hedge, both at inception and on an ongoing basis, to determine whether the derivative used in a 
hedging transaction is effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item and 
whether the derivative is expected to remain effective during subsequent periods. The Corporation 
discontinues hedge accounting when (1) it determines that a derivative is no longer effective in offsetting 
changes in fair value or cash flows of a hedged item; (2) the derivative expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised; (3) probability exists that the forecasted transaction will no longer occur; or (4) management 
determines that designating the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate. When hedge 
accounting is discontinued and a derivative remains outstanding, the Corporation recognizes the derivative in 
the consolidated balance sheets at its fair value and changes in the fair value are recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income and comprehensive income. 
 
At inception, the Corporation designates a derivative as (1) a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value 
of recognized assets or liabilities or of unrecognized firm commitments attributable to a particular risk, such as 
interest rate risk (fair value hedge) or (2) a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected cash flows or other  
types of forecasted transactions (cash flow hedge). For a derivative treated as a fair value hedge, a change in 
fair value is recorded as an adjustment to the hedged item and recognized in earnings. For a derivative treated 
as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the derivative’s change in fair value is recorded as an adjustment 
to the hedged item and recognized as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within 
shareholder’s equity while the ineffective portion of a change in fair value is recorded as an adjustment to the 
hedged item and recognized in earnings. For more information on derivative financial instruments see Note 14. 
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Advertising Costs 

The Corporation charges the costs of advertising to expense as incurred.  Advertising expense was $421,000 
and $346,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  

Income Taxes 

Deferred income taxes are provided on the liability method whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for 
deductible temporary differences and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences.  
Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax 
basis. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance, when in the opinion of management, it is 
more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are adjusted through the provision for income taxes for the effects of changes in tax laws and 
rates on the date of enactment. 

Earnings per Share 

Basic earnings per share represents net income divided by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period. The weighted average number of common shares outstanding was 2,829,567 for 
the years ended 2023 and 2022.   

Segment Reporting 

Management does not separately allocate expenses, including the cost of funding loan demand, between the 
commercial, retail, trust and other operations of the Corporation. As such, discrete financial information is not 
available and segment reporting would not be meaningful.  
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Comprehensive Income 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America generally require that recognized 
revenue, expenses, gains and losses be included in net income. Changes in certain assets and liabilities, such 
as unrealized gains (losses) on debt securities available for sale, and derivatives used in cash flow hedges, are 
reported as a separate component of the equity section of the consolidated balance sheets.  Such items, along 
with net income, are components of comprehensive income. Changes in equity securities are recorded in the 
consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income.  

 
The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and related tax effects are presented in the 
following table (in thousands): 
 Unrealized 

Gains/(Losses) on 
Securities Available 

for Sale 

Cash Flow Hedge Total 

Balance, December 31, 2021  $ 1,996  $ 1,206  $ 3,202 
Change in unrealized losses on 
securities available for sale 

 (32,465)  -  (32,465) 

Change in unrealized gains on cash 
flow hedge 

 -  3,384  3,384 

Tax effect of current period changes  6,818  (711)  6,107 
Other comprehensive income  (25,647)  2,673  (22,974) 

Balance, December 31, 2022  $ (23,651)  $ 3,879  $ (19,772) 
    
Change in unrealized gains on 
securities available for sale 

 5,866  -  5,866 

Change in unrealized losses on cash 
flow hedge 

 -  (643)  (643) 

Tax effect of current period changes  (1,232)  136  (1,096) 
Other comprehensive income  4,634  (507)  4,127 
    

Balance, December 31, 2023  $ (19,017)  $ 3,372  $ (15,645) 

 

Loans Serviced 

Currently, the Bank originates some single-family residential loans for immediate sale in the secondary 
market and Quicken Loans services the loans. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the balance of loans serviced 
for others was $16,938,000 and $19,439,000 respectively. The estimated fair value of mortgage servicing 
rights (MSRs) related to loans sold and serviced by the Corporation is recorded as an asset upon sale of such 
loans. MSRs are amortized as a reduction to servicing income over the estimated lives of the underlying 
loans. MSRs are evaluated periodically for impairment, by comparing the carrying amount to the estimated 
fair value. Mortgage servicing income was $49,000 and $52,000 for 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is 
reflected in other income on the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income. Fair value of 
MSRs was $ 0 and $2,000 at December 31, 2023 and 2022 respectively.   
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NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Off Balance Sheet Financial Instruments 

In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation has entered into off balance sheet financial instruments 
consisting of commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit. Such financial instruments are 
recorded in the consolidated financial statements when they become payable.  

Fair Value Measurements 

Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant information and assumptions, as more fully 
disclosed in Note 13. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment. Changes 
in assumptions or in market conditions would significantly affect the estimates. 

Revenue Recognition 
 

All of the Corporation’s revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of FASB ASC 606, Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers, is recognized within noninterest income in the statements of income and 
comprehensive income. Consistent with ASC 606, noninterest income covered by this guidance is recognized 
as services are transferred to our customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be 
entitled to in exchange for those services. 

 
Following is further detail of the various types of revenue the Corporation earns and when it is recognized. 

 
Interest income:  Interest income is generated from various sources, including loans outstanding 
and investments, and is recognized on an accrual basis according to loan agreements, securities 
contracts or other such written contracts. These revenues are outside the scope of ASC 606. 
 
Service charges on deposit accounts: Service charges are generated from customer deposit 
accounts for overdraft and account maintenance services. Overdraft fees are recognized when the 
overdraft occurs.  Account maintenance fees, which relate primarily to monthly maintenance, are 
earned over the course of a month, representing the period over which the Corporation satisfies 
the performance obligation. The Corporation also earns fees from its customers for other 
transaction-based services. Such services include safe deposit, box, ATM, stop payment, wire 
transfer fees, foreign currency order fees and merchant service fees. In each case, these service 
charges and fees are recognized in income at the time or within the same period that the 
Corporation’s performance obligation is satisfied. 
 
Fiduciary activities:  Revenue is primarily comprised of fees earned from the management and 
administration of trusts, estates and other customer assets and by providing investment brokerage 
services. Fees that are transaction-based (e.g., execution of trades) are recognized at the time of 
the transaction. Other fees, such as general management of assets, are earned over time as the 
contracted monthly or quarterly services, such as account availability, reporting and general  
administration, are provided. These fees are assessed based on either account activity or the 
market value of assets under management at month end.  
 
Earnings on investment in life insurance: Revenues are generated from life insurance policies by 
increases in cash surrender values as premiums are paid, and by the redemption and payout of the 
policies.  These revenues are recognized at the time of carriers reporting cash surrender values to 
the Corporation and at the time proceeds are received.  These revenues are outside the scope of 
ASC 606. 
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NOTE 1 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
Revenue Recognition (Continued) 
 

ATM and debit card fees: ATM fees are generated from non-customer ATM transactions initiated 
with the Corporation’s ATM’s. These fees are transaction-based and are recognized at the time 
the Corporation processes the transaction. Other debit card fees are primarily comprised of 
interchange fees from debit cardholder transactions conducted through various payment 
networks. Interchange fees from cardholder transactions are substantially driven by the 
underlying transaction value and are recognized daily, concurrently with the transaction 
processing services. 
       
Investment securities gains(losses) from sales and unrealized gains(losses) on equities:  
Gains(losses) presented in other income represent amounts realized on the sale of all types of 
investment securities. Unrealized gains(losses) on equity securities are also included in this 
grouping representing changes in market value of equity investment securities that are available 
for sale. These gains (losses) are recognized upon being realized or at the time the investments 
are marked to market (generally daily), as applicable. These revenues are outside the scope of 
ASC 606.  
 
Realized gains on sales of assets:  Realized gains on the sale of assets represent proceeds in 
excess of carrying value for property and equipment used in the operations of the Corporation, 
repossessed assets, or real estate acquired through foreclosure. These gains are recognized at a 
point in time once control of the assets have transferred to the buyers and collectability of the 
transaction price is reasonably assured. 
 
Mutual fund commissions:  Revenues are generated from commissions on the sales of mutual 
funds.  These are transaction-based fees that are recognized in income at the time of sale or within 
the same period that the Corporation’s performance obligation is satisfied. 
 
Other income:  Other income is comprised primarily of secondary market loan fees, other fees 
and commissions, all of which are transaction-based fees that are recognized in income at the 
time or within the same period that the Corporation’s performance obligation is satisfied. Also 
included within other income is a minimal amount of income from an insignificant investment in 
a limited liability company. The income recognized from this investment is recognized when 
earned and is outside the scope of ASC 606. 

 
NOTE 2 - RESTRICTIONS ON CASH AND DUE FROM BANKS 

In return for services obtained through correspondent banks, the Corporation is required to maintain non-
interest bearing cash balances in those correspondent banks. Compensating balances approximated $500,000 
and $400,000 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.   
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NOTE 3 - SECURITIES  

Amortized cost and fair value at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were as follows: 

 
Amortized 

Cost  

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains  

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses  
Fair 

Value 
 (In Thousands) 
 
SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE:        
 December 31, 2023:        
  U.S. agency securities $  42,664      $         -  -   $        (3,877)       $    38,787    
  Mortgage-backed securities 83,640  75  (11,232)  72,483 
             State and municipal securities 84,241  71  (9,109)  75,203 
  Equity securities 635  592  -  1,227 
 

 $ 211,180    $  738    $    (24,218)   $  187,700   
 
 
      December 31, 2022: 

       

  U.S. agency securities $   46,615        $     2         $      (4,671)       $    41,946    
  Mortgage-backed securities 82,963  -  (12,486)  70,477 

State and municipal securities 86,418  34  (12,816)  73,636 
  Equity securities 635  679  -  1,314 
 
 $ 216,631  $  715  $     (29,973)  $  187,373 
        

The following table shows the Corporation’s investments’ gross unrealized losses and fair value, 
aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous 
unrealized loss position, at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022: 

  Less than 12 Months  12 Months or More  Total 
 

 
Fair 

Value  
Unrealized 

Losses  
Fair 

Value  
Unrealized 

Losses  
Fair 

Value  
Unrealized 

Losses 
December 31, 2023  (In Thousands) 
SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR 

SALE:             
U.S. agency securities  $    617   $    -      $       37,764  $        3,877  $    38,381    $     3,877    

        Mortgage-backed   
               securities  5,654  43  62,845  11,189  68,499  11,232 
        State and municipal 
               securities  1,085  4  67,896  9,105  68,981  9,109 

             
  $   7,356  $     47  $  168,505  $    24,171  $   175,861  $    24,218 
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NOTE 3 - SECURITIES (CONTINUED)  

  Less than 12 Months  12 Months or More  Total 
 

 
Fair 

Value  
Unrealized 

Losses  
Fair 

Value  
Unrealized 

Losses  
Fair 

Value  
Unrealized 

Losses 
December 31, 2022  (In Thousands) 
 
SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR 

SALE: 
            

U.S. agency securities  $    14,087   $    1,072      $     26,156  $     3,599  $    40,243    $     4,671    
        Mortgage-backed   
               Securities  22,086  1,485  48,390  11,001  70,476  12,486 
        State and municipal 
               Securities  39,955  4,237  29,967  8,579  69,922  12,816 

             
  $   76,128  $   6,794  $  104,513  $    23,179  $   180,641  $   29,973 

 

At December 31, 2023, sixty-three U.S. agency securities have unrealized losses with aggregate depreciation 
of 9.2% from the Corporation’s amortized cost basis. At December 31, 2022, sixty-three U.S. agency 
securities had unrealized losses with aggregate depreciation of 10.1% from the Corporation’s amortized cost 
basis. In management’s opinion, these unrealized losses relate primarily to changes in interest rates. 

At December 31, 2023, ninety-four mortgage-backed securities have unrealized losses. The aggregate 
depreciation from the Corporation’s amortized cost basis on these securities is 14.1%.  At December 31, 
2022, ninety-one mortgage-backed securities had unrealized losses. The aggregate depreciation from the 
Corporation’s amortized cost basis on these securities was 15.1%.  In management’s opinion, these unrealized 
losses relate to changes in interest rates. The Corporation’s mortgage backed security portfolio consists of 
only government sponsored agencies, and contains no private label securities.   

At December 31, 2023, one hundred and fifty-seven state and municipal securities have unrealized losses with 
aggregate depreciation of 11.7% from the Corporation’s amortized cost basis. At December 31, 2022, one 
hundred and sixty-six state and municipal securities had unrealized losses with aggregate depreciation of 
14.8% from the Corporation’s amortized cost basis. In management’s opinion, these unrealized losses relate 
primarily to changes in interest rates. In analyzing the issuer’s financial condition, management considers the 
issuer’s bond rating as well as the financial performance of the respective municipality.   

In management’s opinion none of the debt securities have declines in value that are deemed to be other than 
temporary.  
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NOTE 3 - SECURITIES (CONTINUED)   

Amortized cost and fair value at December 31, 2023 by contractual maturity are shown below. Municipal 
securities with prerefunded issues are included in the category in which payment is expected to occur.  
Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because issuers may have the right to call or 
prepay with or without penalties.  

 

   Available for Sale  
   Amortized 

Cost 
 Fair 

Value 
  

   
 
     1 year or less  $       999  $       967                    
 Over 1 year through 5 years   13,129  12,400   
 Over 5 years through 10 years  34,445  30,955   
 Over 10 years  78,332  69,668   
 Mortgage-backed securities  83,640  72,483   
 Equity securities   635        1,227   
 
   $   211,180  $   187,700  
 

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, securities with a carrying value of $79,702,000 and $86,903,000 
respectively, were pledged as collateral as required by law on public deposits and for other purposes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



30 | FIRST COMMUNITY FINANCIAL CORPORATION

 

30 

NOTE 4 - LOANS 

The Company adopted the new current expected credit loss accounting guidance, ASC 326, and all related 
amendments as of January 1, 2023. Certain prior period credit quality disclosures related to impaired loans 
and individually and collectively evaluated loans were superseded with the current ASC 326 guidance and 
have not been included below as of December 31, 2023. 
 

      Loans receivable, by loan segment, were comprised of the following as of December 31: 

   2023  2022 
   (In Thousands) 
 
 Commercial  $   82,932   $   83,332 
 Commercial real estate  150,753  132,532 
 Agricultural  46,343  44,839 
 Consumer  8,349  12,490 
 Residential  181,827  185,756 
 
 Total loans receivable  $ 470,204   $ 458,949 

 
 
The allowance for credit losses, by loan segment, was comprised of the following at December 31,2023: 

 
  

Commercial 
Commercial 
Real Estate 

 
Agricultural 

 
Consumer 

 
Residential 

Un -
allocated 

 
Total 

(in Thousands) 
 
December 31, 
2022 Total 
Allowance for 
credit losses 

 
 
 
 

$  709 

 
 
 
 

$  1,463 

 
 
 
 

$  666 

 
 
 
 

$  443 

 
 
 
                        

$  1,732 

 
 
 
    

$     159 

 
 
 
 

$ 5,172 
 
ASC 326 
adoption 

 
 

569 

 
 

1,005 

 
 

(172) 

 
 

11 

 
 

(669) 

 
 

(159) 

 
 

585 
 
     Provision 

 
(54) 

 
1,626 

 
37 

 
362 

 
(326) 

 
- 

 
1,645 

     Charge-offs (80)              (789) - (566) - - (1,435) 
     Recoveries 5                  - - 40 1 - 46 
        
December 31, 
2023 Total 
Allowance for 
credit losses 

 
 
 

$  1,149 

 
 
 

$  3,305 

 
 
 

$  531 

 
 
 

$  290 

 
 
 

$   738 

 
 
 

$         - 

 
 
 

$ 6,013 
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NOTE 4 - LOANS (CONTINUED) 
 

The allowance for credit losses and loans receivable, by loan segment, consisted of the following at December 
31, 2022: 

 
Allowance for Credit Losses: 

  
Commercial 

Commercial 
Real Estate 

 
Agricultural 

 
Consumer 

 
Residential 

Un -
allocated 

 
Total 

(in Thousands) 
 
December 31, 
2021 Total 
Allowance for 
loan losses 

 
 
 
 

$  689 

 
 
 
 

$  1,344 

 
 
 
 

$  664 

 
 
 
 

$    44 

 
 
 
                        

$  1,361 

 
 
 
    

$    593 

 
 
 
 

$ 4,695 
        
     Provision 10 119 2 482 371 (434) 550 
     Charge-offs (25)                     - - (90) - - (115) 
     Recoveries 35                     - - 7 - - 42 
        
December 31, 
2022 Total 
Allowance for 
loan losses 

 
 
 

$  709 

 
 
 

$  1,463 

 
 
 

$  666 

 
 
 

$  443 

 
 
 

$  1,732 

 
 
 

$    159 

 
 
 

$ 5,172 
 
Ending balance 
for loans 
individually 
evaluated for 
impairment 

 
 
 
 
 
$       - 

 
 
 
 
 

$         - 

 
 
 
 
 

$       - 

 
 
 
 
 

$      - 

 
 
 
 
 

$         - 

 
 
 
 
 

$        - 

 
 
 
 
 

$        - 
 
Ending balance 
for loans 
collectively 
evaluated for 
impairment 

 
 
 
 
 

$  709 

 
 
 
 
 

$  1,463 

 
 
 
 
 

$  666 

 
 
 
 
 

$  443 

 
 
 
 
 

$  1,732 

 
 
 
 
 

$    159 

 
 
 
 
 

$ 5,172 
 
Loans Receivable: 

  Commercial     
 Commercial Real Estate Agricultural Consumer Residential Total 

(in Thousands) 
Individually 

evaluated 
for 
impairment $          -  $       954 

 
 

 
     $   1,793 $           - $        300 $     3,047 

       
Collectively 

evaluated 
for 
impairment 83,332 131,578 

 
 
 

43,046 12,490 185,456 455,902 
        

Total loans $ 83,332 $ 132,532 
  

    $ 44,839 $  12,490 $ 185,756 $ 458,949 
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NOTE 4 - LOANS (CONTINUED) 

 
The amortized cost basis of the loan portfolio, by year of origination, loan segment, and credit quality 
consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023: 
 

 
 
 
 

Term Loans Amortized Cost Basis by Origination Year Revolving 
Loans 

Amortized 
Basis 

Revolving 
Loans 

Converted to 
Term 

 
 
 

Totals 

 
2023 

 
2022 

 
2021 

 
2020 

 
2019 

 
Prior 

In Thousands 
 
 

Commercial          
     Pass $   15,109 $   13,289 $    7,273 $    4,708 $    6,024 $  18,196 $  18,119 $            - $    82,718 
     Special mention - 80 34 16 19 - 10 - 159 
     Substandard - - 22 - - 20 13 - 55 
Total Commercial $   15,109 $   13,369 $    7,329 $   4,724 $    6,043 $  18,216 $  18,142 $            - $    82,932 

Current period gross 
charge-offs-Commercial 

 
$             - 

 
$            - 

 
$            - 

 
$            - 

 
$            - 

 
$            - 

 
$         80 

 
$            - 

 
$           80 

          
Commercial real estate          
     Pass $     8,838 $  28,007 $  40,300 $  22,765 $  12,072 $  30,024 $    3,106 $            - $  145,112 
     Substandard - 454 - - 4,337 850 - -  5,641 
Total Commercial real 
estate 

$     8,838 $  28,461 $  40,300 $  22,765 $  16,409 $  30,874 $    3,106 $            - $  150,753 

Current period gross 
charge-offs-Commercial 
real estate 

 
 

$            - 

 
 

$         39 

 
 

$           - 

 
 

$           - 

 
 

$        750 

 
 

$           - 

 
 

$           - 

 
 

$           - 

 
 

$         789 

          
Agricultural          
     Pass $    2,665 $   6,374 $   3,399 $   2,617 $   5,180 $   18,832 $    3,135 $           - $    42,202 
     Special mention - 1,612 - - - 257 80 - 1,949 
     Substandard - - - 56 - 2,007 129 - 2,192 
Total Agricultural $    2,665 $   7,986 $   3,399  $2,673 $   5.180 $  21,096, $    3,344 $           - $    46,343 

Current period gross 
charge-offs-Agricultural 

 
$            - 

 
$          - 

 
$           - 

 
$           - 

 
$           - 

 
$           - 

 
$           - 

 
$           - 

 
$            - 

 
Consumer          
     Pass $       456 $     6,166 $       111 $        41 $         13 $       141 $    1,421 $            - $      8,349 
Total Consumer $       456 $     6,166 $       111 $        41 $         13 $       141 $    1,421 $            - $      8,349 

Current period gross 
charge-offs-Consumer 

 
$           - 

 
$        520 

 
$           25 

 
$            - 

 
$            - 

 
$            - 

 
$         21 

 
$            - 

 
$         566 

          
Residential          
     Pass $  23,921 $  39,260 $  27,802 $  18,980 $    4,501 $  37,131 $  28,461 $          311 $  180,367 
     Special mention - - - - - 44 - - 44 
     Substandard - 301 - - - 1,115 - - 1,416 
Total Residential $  23,921 $  39,561 $  27,802 $  18,980 $  4,501 $   38,290 $   28,461 $           311 $  181,827 

Current period gross 
charge-offs-Residential 

 
$            - 

 
$          - 

 
$           - 

 
$           - 

 
$           - 

 
$           - 

 
$           - 

 
$           - 

 
$            - 

 
Total          
     Pass $   50,989 $   93,096 $   78,885 $    49,111 $  27,790 $104,324 $  54,242 $           311 $    458,748 
     Special mention - 1,692 34 16 19 301 90 - 2,152 
     Substandard - 755 22 56 4,337 3,992 142 - 9,304 
 $   50,989 $   95,543 $    78,941 $   49,183 $  32,146 $108,617 $  54,474 $            311 $    470,204 
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NOTE 4 - LOANS (CONTINUED) 
 
An analysis of credit quality indicators consisted of the following as of December 31, 2022: 
 

  Commercial     
 Commercial Real Estate Agricultural Consumer Residential Total 
  (in Thousands) 
Pass $  83,220 $ 126,239 $  41,336 $  12,490 $ 184,051 $ 447,336 

Special mention 11 5,339 1,587 - 596 7,533 

Substandard 101 954 1,916 - 1,109 4,080 

Doubtful - - - - - - 

Loss - - - - - - 
       
Total loans $  83,332 $ 132,532 $  44,839 $  12,490 $ 185,756 $ 458,949 

 
 
The amortized cost basis of nonperforming loans, by loan segment, with and without reserves on individually 

evaluated loans consisted of the following: 
 

December 31, 2023 Amortized Related 
Interest 
Income 

 Cost Allowance Recognized 
 

With no allowance needed    
     Commercial  $         - $         - $         - 
     Commercial Real Estate 5,641           - 290 
     Agricultural 759 - - 

     Residential 562 - 12 
          
With an allowance recorded    
     Commercial - - - 
     Commercial Real Estate - - - 

     Agricultural - - - 

     Residential - - - 

Total    
     Commercial - - - 

     Commercial Real Estate 5,641           - 290 

     Agricultural 759 - - 

     Residential 562 - 12 
    
Total   $ 6,962 $        -  $    302 

 
 



34 | FIRST COMMUNITY FINANCIAL CORPORATION

 

34 

NOTE 4 - LOANS (CONTINUED) 

 
The following is a summary of impaired loans as of December 31, 2022: 
 

December 31, 2022 Recorded 
Unpaid  

Principal Related 
Average  
Recorded 

Interest 
Income 

 Investment Balance Allowance Investment Recognized 
 (In Thousands) 
With no allowance needed      
     Commercial  $       - $       -    $       - $     - $     - 
     Commercial Real Estate 954 1,116           - 981      - 
     Agricultural 1,793 1,925 - 1,879 58 

     Residential 300 486 - 318 - 
            
With an allowance recorded      
     Commercial - - - - - 
     Commercial Real Estate - -           - -      - 
     Agricultural - - - - - 
     Residential - - - - - 
Total      
     Commercial - - - - - 

     Commercial Real Estate 954 1,116           - 981      - 

     Agricultural 1,793 1,925 - 1,879 58 

     Residential 300 486 - 318 - 
      
Total   $ 3,047 $ 3,527 $     - $ 3,178 $  58 

 
 
An age analysis of past-due loans is as follows: 
 

December 31, 2023         

 

30 – 59  
Days 
 Past  
Due 

60 – 89  
Days 
Past  
Due 

90+ Days  
Past  
 Due 

Total Past  
Due Current Total Loans 

90+ Days  
Past Due  

Still 
Accruing 

 
 

Non- 
Accrual 

               (In Thousands) 

Commercial $       - $       - $      - $        - $   82,932 $  82,932 $       - $      13 

Commercial Real Estate - 454 - 454 150,299 150,753 - 5,641 

Agricultural 8 - - 8 46,335 46,343 - 771 

Consumer 57 93 82 232 8,117 8,349 82 - 

Residential 25 32 41 98 181,729 181,827 - 671 

Total $    90 $  579 $  123 $   792 $ 469,412 $ 470,204 $      82 $      7,096 
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NOTE 4 - LOANS (CONTINUED) 
 
An age analysis of past-due loans is as follows: 
 

December 31, 2022         

 

30 – 59  
Days 
 Past  
Due 

60 – 89  
Days  
Past  
Due 

90+ Days  
Past  
 Due 

Total Past  
Due Current Total Loans 

90+ Days  
Past Due 

Still 
Accruing Nonaccrual 

               (In Thousands) 

Commercial $     - $     - $    - $        - $  83,332 $ 83,332 $       -       $    14 

Commercial Real Estate - - - - 132,532 132,532 - 954 

Agricultural - - - - 44,839 44,839 - 871 

Consumer 52 57 14 123 12,367 12,490 14 - 

Residential - 26 240 266 185,490 185,756 - 603 

Total $  52 $ 83 $ 254 $ 389 $458,560 $458,949 $      14 $ 2,442 

 
 
The amortized cost basis during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 of the loans modified to borrowers 
experiencing financial difficulty disaggregated by class of financing receivable and type of concession granted 
was as follows: 
 

 
 Term Extension 
  

Amortized 
Cost Basis 

% of Class of 
Financing 
Receivable 

 (Dollars in Thousands) 
Agricultural $        25 0.05% 
   

 
The financial effect of the modifications made to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty for the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2023 was the term extension added a weighted average of 0.67 years to the life of the 
loans, which did not reduce the monthly payment amounts for the Agricultural borrowers. 
 
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, there were no loans modified due to financial difficulty 
where there was an interest rate reduction or principal balance forgiveness. 
 
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 there were no loans modified due to financial difficulty that 
defaulted in the twelve months subsequent to modification. 
 
Performance of loans that have been modified in the last twelve months as of December 31, 2023: 
 

 Current 

30 – 89 
Past  
Due 

90+ Days  
Past  
 Due 

Total Past  
     Due 

Agricultural $    25 $       - $       - $        - 

Total $    25 $       - $       - $        - 
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NOTE 4 - LOANS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
There were no commitments to lend additional funds to borrowers with loan modifications as a result of financial 
difficulty as of December 31,2023. 
 
The following is a summary of Troubled Debt Restructurings for the year ended December 31, 2022 (in 
thousands): 
  
 Number 

of 
contracts 

Pre-Modification 
Outstanding 

Recorded 
Investment 

Post-Modification 
Outstanding 

Recorded 
Investment 

Troubled Debt Restructurings     
     Commercial 1 $        56 $       56 
    
There were no Troubled Debt Restructurings that subsequently defaulted for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

During 2022 there was one modification to a commercial loan troubled restructuring. This loan was in distress 
due to the borrower’s health and required modification to the payment amount. 
 
No additional funds are committed to be advanced in connection with any loans whose terms have been modified 
in troubled debt restructurings. 

At December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 no consumer mortgage loans were in process of foreclosure. 

In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation has loan, deposit and other routine transactions with its 
officers, directors and principal shareholders and entities in which they have principal ownership.  Changes during 
2023 and 2022 in these related party loans were as follows (in thousands): 

   2023 2022 
   (In Thousands) 
     
 Balance, beginning  $ 1,618   $   1,349 
  Advances  1,110 1,548 
  Repayments  (1,455) (1,249) 
 
 Balance, ending  $ 1,273   $  1,618 
 

NOTE 5 - PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT 

Premises and equipment at December 31 were as follows: 

                                                                  Range of      
                                                                      Useful Lives  2023  2022 
                                                               (in years)  (In Thousands) 
 
 Land                                                               -                         $     773       $      773 
 Buildings and improvements                       7 - 39  8,402  8,306 
 Furniture, equipment and software              3 - 20  8,840  8,670 
 Right of use assets                                        3 - 5   269  246 
 
   18,284  17,995 
 Accumulated depreciation  (13,497)  (12,944) 
 
 Premises and equipment, net  $  4,787    $   5,051 
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NOTE 6 - LEASES 

The Corporation follows FASB ASC 842, Leases, which requires recognizing right-of-use (ROU) assets and lease 
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.  Lease liabilities represent the Corporation’s obligation to make 
lease payments and are presented at each reporting date as the net present value of the remaining contractual cash 
flows. Cash flows are discounted based on our best estimate of the rate implicit in the lease. Right-of-use assets 
represent the Corporation’s right to use the underlying asset for the lease term and are calculated as the sum of the 
lease liability and if applicable, prepaid rent, initial direct costs and any incentives received from the lessor. 

The Corporation’s long-term lease agreements are classified as operating leases. Certain of these leases offer the 
option to extend the lease term and the Bank has included such extensions in its calculation of the lease liabilities 
to the extent the options are reasonably assured of being exercised. The lease agreements do not provide for 
residual value guarantees and have no restrictions or covenants that would impact dividends or require incurring 
additional financial obligations. There are no variable short-term lease costs for the years ended December 31, 
2023 and 2022. 

The Corporation leases its Delaware office (Juniata County), West Shore office (Cumberland County), the Trust 
& Financial Services office in Mifflintown, the Loan Production Office in Camp Hill, the Elizabethville office, 
and the land on which its East Waterford office was constructed. The Corporation has an option through June 30, 
2024 to purchase the leased land, for a predetermined price of $125,000. The East Waterford land lease is for five 
years and expires on June 30, 2024 with a five year renewal option. The West Shore office lease is for five years 
and expires December 31, 2023, and there are two renewal options each for five years. The Trust and Financial 
Services office lease is for five years and expires February 28, 2024, and there is a renewal option that allows the 
lease to be renewed at a year-to-year discretion. The Delaware office lease is for five years and expires March 31, 
2024, and there is no renewal option. The Loan Production Office lease is for five years and expires February 28, 
2026.  The Elizabethville office lease is for five years and expires September 30, 2028, and there are two renewal 
options each for five years. The Corporation also leases four copy machines.  The Corporation also received rental 
income for leasing of available space at its Loysville office. 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the weighted average remaining lease term for all operating leases is 3.5 and 
2.1 years, respectively. The discount rates used are based on our best estimate of the rate implicit in the leases. 
The weighted average discount rate associated with operating leases as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, is 3.68% 
and 3.44%, respectively. 

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, rent expense associated with leases is as follows: 

   2023  2022 
   (In Thousands) 
 
 Operating lease cost:     
 Fixed rent expense  $ 218  $ 239 
 Sublease income  (36)  (49) 
      
 Net lease cost  182  190 
      
 Lease cost included in net occupancy and equipment  182  190 
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NOTE 6 – LEASES (CONTINUED) 

Amounts recognized as right-of-use assets related to operating leases are included in premises and equipment, net 
and related liabilities are included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2023 
and 2022, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in operating leases were as follows: 

 2023 2022 

 (In Thousands) (In Thousands) 

     Operating lease right-of-use 
assets 

$  269 $ 246 

     Operating lease liabilities    269    246 

 

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the corporation had the following cash and non-cash 
activities associated with leases: 
 

 2022 2022 

 (In Thousands) (In Thousands) 

Cash paid for amounts related 
in the measurement of lease 
liabilities: 

  

Operating cash flows from 
operating leases 

$  218 $ 239 

Non-cash investing and 
financing activities: 

  

Additions to ROU assets 
obtained from: 

  

New operating leases      187    16 

 

The future payments due under operating leases as of December 31, 2023 are as follows: 

   2023 
(In Thousands) 

 

 
Due in  2024  $  95  

 2025  81  

 2026  42  

 2027  31  

 2028 and thereafter  23  

 Total  272  

 Less effects of discounting  (3)  

 Lease liabilities recognized  269  
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NOTE 7 - DEPOSITS 

Deposits were comprised of the following as of December 31: 

   2023  2022 
   (In Thousands) 
 
 Non-interest bearing demand  $ 108,811   $123,148 
 Interest bearing demand  87,488  117,578 
 Savings  193,739  210,735 
 Time deposits less than $100,000  83,054  67,762 
 Time deposits greater than $100,000  86,975  65,450 
 
 Total   $ 560,067   $ 584,673 
 

 

Time deposits greater than $250,000 were $32,288,000 and $22,941,000 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

 

Scheduled maturities of time deposits at December 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands): 

 2024  $   109,716  
 2025  49,260  
 2026  4,856  
 2027  4,119  
 2028 and thereafter  2,078  

 
 Total  $ 170,029  
 
The aggregate amount of deposit account overdrafts reclassified as loan balances were $67,000 and $45,000 at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Total aggregate deposits of employees, officers, directors and related interests were $6,906,000 and $6,570,000 at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

NOTE 8 - BORROWINGS 

Short-term borrowings at December 31 were as follows: 
     2023  2022 
   (In Thousands) 
 Amount outstanding at end of year: 

       Short-term borrowings:                                                                       
 

 
   

 
        Repurchase agreements    $           -  $    2,009 
        FHLB Open Repo Plus overnight line      28,000  40,000 
        
     $  28,000                              $    42,009 
            
Weighted average interest rate at end of year   5.68  %  4.25   % 
Maximum amount outstanding at any end of month  $   34,000     $ 57,918  
Daily average amount outstanding   24,605        17,648  
Approximate weighted average interest rate for the year  5.35 % 2.72  % 
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NOTE 8 – BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 

Securities sold under agreements to purchase generally mature within one day from the transaction date.  At 
December 31, 2022, securities with a fair value of $4,849,000 were pledged as collateral for these agreements.  As 
of December 31, 2022, the interest rate on securities sold under agreement to repurchase was 0.40%.  The 
securities underlying the agreements were under the Corporation’s control. 

 

FHLB and FRB term advances at December 31 were as follows: 

   2023  2022 
FHLB:   (In Thousands) 
Fixed Rate:       
 Maturing in 2023 with a weighted average rate of 4.67%  $         -   $         26,000 
 Maturing in 2024 with a weighted average rate of 4.95%  29,000  5,000 
 Maturing in 2025 with a weighted average rate of 1.01%  2,000  2,000 
      
FRB: 
Fixed Rate: 

Maturing in 2024 with a weighted average of 4.83%       $ 38,000           - 
 
  

Total 

  
 

$ 69,000 

 

$ 33,000 
 

The Corporation has a maximum borrowing capacity through the Federal Home Loan Bank of approximately 
$263,900,000, of which $204,900,000 was available at December 31, 2023. The borrowing capacity is 
collateralized by security agreements in certain residential real estate backed assets of the Corporation, including 
loans and investments. At December 31, 2023, the carrying amount of the qualifying loan collateral was $383 
million.   

The Corporation also has $64,170,000 in letters of credit through the Federal Home Loan Bank issued to 
municipalities to secure deposits at December 31, 2023. 

The Corporation has borrowings with the Federal Reserve’s Bank Term Funding Program.  These are term fixed-
rate advances.  At December 31, 2023, there were $38,000,000 of these advances with a weighted average rate of 
4.83%.  All of these advances mature in 2024. 
 
The Corporation has a $5,000,000 unsecured fed fund borrowing line at Atlantic Community Bankers Bank. At 
December 31, 2023, and 2022, there were no outstanding balances on this borrowing line. 

The Corporation has issued $5,155,000 of floating rate junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures to a 
consolidated subsidiary trust, First Community Financial Capital Trust I (the Trust). The Corporation owns all of 
the common equity of the Trust. The debentures held by the Trust are the sole assets of the Trust.  

The Trust issued $5,000,000 of mandatorily redeemable preferred securities to third-party investors. The 
Corporation’s obligations under the debentures and related documents, taken together, constitute a full and 
unconditional guarantee by the Corporation of the Trust’s obligations under the preferred securities. The junior 
subordinated debt securities pay interest quarterly at 3-month LIBOR plus 3.00% (8.66% and 7.08% at December 
31, 2023 and 2022, respectively). Pursuant to the debenture agreement, the Corporation can elect to defer 
payments of interest for up to 20 consecutive quarterly periods, provided there is no event of default as defined in 
the indenture. The Corporation has not deferred any quarterly interest payments through December 31, 2023.  The 
preferred securities are redeemable quarterly by the Corporation at 100% of principal plus accrued interest on or 
after January 7, 2009. The preferred securities must be redeemed upon maturity of the debentures on January 7, 
2034. The terms of the junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures match those of the preferred securities.  
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NOTE 9 - INCOME TAXES  

The components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:  

   2023  2022   
   (In Thousands) 
 Federal:      
  Current  $     (196)  $   853  
  Deferred  (61)  (114)  
 
        Total  $  (257)  $     739  
 

   Percentage of Income 
before Income Taxes 

   2023  2022  
 Federal income tax at statutory rate                  21.0 % 21.0 % 
 Tax-exempt income                 (40.2)  (7.7)  
 Earnings on investment in life insurance                    (8.1)  (0.9)  
 
          Total                  (27.3) % 12.4 % 
 

Components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 were as follows: 

   2023  2022 
   (In Thousands) 
 
 Deferred tax assets:     
  Allowance for loan losses  $     1,199  $     1,166 
  Nonaccrual loans interest  9  22 
       Available for sale debt securities                                                                      5,056  6,287 
  Retirement liabilities  618  594 
       Deferred loan fees  261  252 
       Municipal bond accretion  23  13 
       State net operating loss carryforward  408  415 
       Gross deferred tax asset  7,574  8,749 

       Valuation allowance  (408)  (415) 
 
   7,166  8,334 
 
 Deferred tax liabilities:     
       Accumulated depreciation  112  143 
       Unrealized gain on cash flow hedge  896  1,031 
       Deferred loan costs  754  703 
       Unrealized gain on equity securities       124  142 
 
   1,886  2,019 
 
 Net Deferred Tax Assets  $     5,280    $  6,315 
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NOTE 9 – INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED) 
 
The Corporation accounts for income taxes in accordance with income tax accounting guidance (FASB ASC 740, 
Income Taxes). The Corporation follows accounting guidance related to accounting for uncertainty in income 
taxes, which sets out a consistent framework to determine the appropriate level of tax reserves to maintain for 
uncertain tax positions. 
 
The income tax accounting guidance results in two components of income tax expense: current and deferred.  
Current income tax expense reflects taxes to be paid or refunded for the current period by applying the provisions 
of the enacted tax law to the taxable income or excess of deductions over revenue. The Corporation determines 
deferred income taxes using the liability (or balance sheet) method. Under this method, the net deferred tax asset 
or liability is based on the tax effects of the differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities, 
and enacted changes in tax rates and laws are recognized in the period in which they occur. 
 
Deferred income tax expense results from changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities between periods. Deferred 
tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of evidence available, it is more likely than 
not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. 
 
As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation has state net operating loss carryforwards of $ 4,544,000 that expire 
through 2043. Management does not believe that these net operating loss carryforwards will be utilized prior to 
their expiration, as they were incurred by the holding company with little revenue opportunities to offset the 
losses, and as such, a valuation allowance has been provided for them.  
 
Uncertain tax positions are recognized if it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits, that the tax 
position will be sustained upon examination. The term “more likely than not” means a likelihood of more than 50 
percent; the terms examined and upon examination also include resolution of the related appeals of litigation 
processes, if any. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is initially and 
subsequently measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being 
sustained upon settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. The 
determination of whether or not a tax position has met the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold considers 
the facts, circumstances, and information available at the reporting date and is subject to management’s judgment. 
 
The Corporation recognizes interest and penalties on income taxes as a component of income tax expense. 

 

NOTE 10 - RETIREMENT PLANS 
 
The Corporation maintains a 401(k) plan for the benefit of eligible employees. Employer contributions include 
matching a portion of employee contributions. Corporation contributions to the Plan were $254,000 and $214,000 
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.   

The Corporation maintains non-qualified compensation plans for selected employees (supplemental retirement) 
and directors (deferred fees). The estimated present value of future benefits is accrued over the period from the 
effective date of the agreements until the expected retirement dates of the individuals. Expenses include the 
following amounts for these non-qualified plans: 
 
   2023  2022   
   (In Thousands) 
 
 Employee compensation  $  122   $   117  
 Director compensation  150  84  
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NOTE 10 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 

The balance accrued for these plans included in other liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 totaled 
$2,943,000 and $2,828,000, respectively.  

The Corporation is the owner of single premium life insurance policies on participants as part of a strategy to fund 
the benefits in the non-qualified retirement plans. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the cash value of these 
policies was $13,186,000 and $13,051,000, respectively. The Corporation also uses annuities to fund the benefits 
of these plans. The value of these annuities was $3,466,000 at December 31, 2023 and $3,541,000 at December 
31, 2022, and they are included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.   

The Corporation has an Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP). Contributions to the ESOP are made by the 
Corporation, and the ESOP uses funds contributed to purchase Corporation stock for the accounts of ESOP 
participants. All employees who meet the eligibility requirements are participants in the Plan and receive an 
allocation of cash and stock contributions based on eligible compensation. Stock purchases can be made on the 
market or from the Corporation. Dividends paid on shares held by the ESOP are included in the calculation of 
weighted-average shares outstanding for purposes of calculating earnings per share. The Corporation’s 
contributions to the ESOP totaled $253,000 in 2023 and $216,000 in 2022 and are reflected as compensation 
expense. The ESOP purchased 8,000 shares in 2023 and did not purchase any shares in 2022. The ESOP held 
52,688 shares of the Corporation at December 31, 2023 and 44,688 shares at December 31, 2022, all of which 
were allocated to participants as of those dates. 
 
Under Federal income tax regulations, the employer stock that is held by the Plan and its participants is not 
readily tradable on an established market, or subject to trading limitations, includes a put option. The put option is 
a right to demand that the Corporation buy any shares of its stock distributed to participants for which there is no 
market. The put price is representative of the current value of the stock. The Corporation can pay for the purchase 
with interest over a period of five years. The purpose of the put option is to ensure that the participant has the 
ability to ultimately obtain cash. The Corporation may assign the put option to the Plan. 
 
The estimated fair value of the shares subject to a put or repurchase obligation at December 31, 2023 is 
approximately $1,132,000 based on the most recent valuation performed for ESOP purposes as of December 31, 
2022.  This value does not contemplate transactions occurring in 2023. 
 
 
NOTE 11 - REGULATORY MATTERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

The Corporation and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal 
banking agencies. Failure to meet the minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possibly 
additional discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the 
Corporation’s consolidated financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework 
for prompt corrective action, the Corporation and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve 
quantitative measures of their assets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory 
accounting practices. The capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the 
regulators about components, risk weightings and other factors. Quantitative measures established by regulation 
to ensure capital adequacy require the Corporation and the Bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios (set 
forth below) of Tier 1 capital to average assets and of Tier 1 and total capital (as defined in the regulations) to risk 
weighted assets. Management believes, as of December 31, 2023, that the Corporation and the Bank meet all 
capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject.  

As of December 31, 2023, the most recent notification from the regulators categorized the Bank as “well 
capitalized” under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. There are no conditions or events since 
that notification that management believes have changed the Bank’s category.  
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NOTE 11 – REGULATORY MATTERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (CONTINUED) 

The actual and required capital amounts and ratios were as follows: 

 

 

 
 

Actual  

 
For Capital Adequacy 

Purposes  

To be Well Capitalized 
under Prompt 

Corrective Action 
Provisions  

  Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio  Amount  Ratio  
  (Dollars in Thousands)  
 
              
BANK:              
As of December 31, 2023:              
 Tier 1 leverage ratio (to average assets)  $59,330  8.1 % $≥≥29,247  ≥≥4.0 %  $≥≥36,559  ≥≥ 5.0 % 
        Common Equity tier 1 capital ratio (to              
                  risk-weighted assets)   59,330  13.4  ≥≥19,877  ≥≥4.5  ≥≥28,712  ≥≥6.5  
 Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio (to risk-

weighted assets)  59,330  13.4  ≥≥26,503  ≥≥6.0  ≥≥35,337  ≥≥ 8.0  
 Total risk-based capital ratio (to risk-

weighted assets)  64,859  14.7  ≥≥35,337  ≥≥8.0  ≥≥44,172  ≥≥10.0  
              
As of December 31, 2022:              
 Tier 1 leverage ratio (to average assets)  $60,166  8.2 % $≥29,335  ≥4.0 %  $≥36,669  ≥ 5.0 % 
        Common Equity tier 1 capital ratio (to              
                 risk-weighted assets)  60,166  13.8  ≥19,648  ≥4.5  ≥28,380  ≥6.5  
 Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio (to risk-

weighted assets)  60,166  13.8  ≥26,197  ≥6.0  ≥34,930  ≥ 8.0  
 Total risk-based capital ratio (to risk-

weighted assets)  65,625  15.0  ≥34,930  ≥8.0  ≥43,662  ≥10.0  
 
Under the provisions of the Pennsylvania Banking Code, cash dividends may be paid from accumulated net 
earnings (retained earnings) so long as minimum capital requirements are met. The minimum capital requirements 
stipulate that the Bank’s surplus or additional paid-in capital be equal to the amount of capital. Pennian Bank is 
well above these requirements and the balance of $50,716,000 in its retained earnings at December 31, 2023 is  
available for cash dividends to the Corporation. First Community Financial Corporation’s balance of retained 
earnings at December 31, 2023 is $41,137,000 and would be available for dividends, although payment of 
dividends to such extent would not be prudent or likely. 
 
The Board of Directors of the Corporation have authorized and approved the repurchase of shares of outstanding 
Corporation common stock in an aggregate amount not to exceed $1,000,000 (based on gross consideration paid).  
Share repurchases will be made from time to time and may be affected through open market purchases, block 
trades, or in privately negotiated transactions. The Corporation did not purchase shares under this plan in 2023 or 
2022. 

 
NOTE 12 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF BALANCE SHEET RISK 

The Corporation is a party to financial instruments with off balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to 
meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments consist primarily of commitments to 
extend credit (typically mortgages and commercial loans) and, to a lesser extent, standby letters of credit. These 
instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount 
recognized on the balance sheet. The Corporation’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the 
other party to the financial instrument for commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit is 
represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. The Corporation uses the same credit policies in 
making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on balance sheet instruments. The Corporation 
does not anticipate any material losses from these commitments. 
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NOTE 12 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF BALANCE SHEET RISK (CONTINUED) 

 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any 
condition established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination 
clauses and may require payment of a fee. Since some of the commitments are expected to expire without being 
drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. The 
Corporation evaluates each customer’s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral 
obtained, if deemed necessary by the Corporation upon extensions of credit, is based on management’s credit 
evaluation of the customer. Collateral held varies but may include accounts receivable, inventory, property and 
equipment and income-producing commercial properties. On loans secured by real estate, the Corporation 
generally requires loan to value ratios of no greater than 80%.  

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Corporation to guarantee the performance of a 
customer to a third party. Those guarantees are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing 
arrangements and similar transactions. The terms of the letters of credit vary and may have renewal features. The 
credit risk involved in using letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loans to 
customers. The Corporation holds collateral supporting those commitments for which collateral is deemed 
necessary. Management believes that the proceeds obtained through a liquidation of such collateral would be 
sufficient to cover the maximum potential amount of future payments required under the corresponding 
guarantees.  

The Corporation has not been required to perform on any financial guarantees, and has not incurred any losses on 
its commitments, during the past two years.  

A summary of the Corporation’s commitments, both fixed and variable rates, at December 31 were as follows: 

   2023  2022 
   (In Thousands) 
 
 Commitments to extend credit  $ 130,143  $ 129,150 
 Standby letters of credit  $     1,286     $      2,442 
 
 

In addition to the ACL on loans, the Corporation maintains an allowance for lending-related commitments such as 
unfunded loan commitments and letters of credit.  Under ASC 326, the Corporation estimates expected credit 
losses over the contractual period in which the Corporation is exposed to credit risk via a contractual obligation to 
extend credit, unless that obligation is unconditionally cancellable by the Corporation.  The allowance for 
lending-related commitments on off-balance sheet credit exposures is adjusted as a provision for credit loss 
expense.  The estimate includes consideration of the likelihood that funding will occur, which is based on a 
historical funding study derived from internal information, and an estimate of expected credit losses on 
commitments expected to be funded over its estimated life, which are the same loss rates that are used in 
computing the allowance for credit losses on loans, and are discussed in Note 1.  The allowance for credit losses 
for unfunded loan commitments of $80,000 and $382,000 at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 
respectively, is separately classified on the consolidated balance sheets within the line item “Other Liabilities.”  
The following table presents the balance and activity in the allowance for credit losses for unfunded loan 
commitments for the year ended December 31, 2023: 
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NOTE 12 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF BALANCE SHEET RISK (CONTINUED) 

     
 

Total Allowance for Credit 
Losses – Unfunded Loan 

Commitments 
In thousands 
 

 Beginning balance at December 31, 2022  
 

 $ 382 
 

 Adjustment for implementation of ASC 326 on January 1, 2023    (204) 
 Charge-offs    - 
 Recoveries    - 
 Provision for credit losses on changes in unfunded commitments 

(included in other operating expenses) 
 

 
 (98) 

 
  

Ending balance at December 31, 2023 
 

 
 

$  80 
      
 

 

 

 

NOTE 13 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Management uses its best judgment in estimating the fair value of the Corporation’s consolidated financial 
instruments; however, there are inherent weaknesses in any estimation technique.  Therefore, for substantially all 
financial instruments, the fair value estimates herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Bank could 
have realized in a sales transaction on the dates indicated.  The estimated fair value amounts have been measured 
as of their respective period-ends and have not been re-evaluated or updated for purposes of these consolidated 
financial statements subsequent to those respective dates.  As such, the estimated fair values of these financial 
instruments subsequent to the respective reporting dates may be different than the amounts reported at each 
period-end.  

ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for 
measuring fair value under GAAP, expands disclosures about fair value measurements, and applies to other 
accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements.    
 
Fair value measurement and disclosure guidance defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell the 
asset or transfer the liability in an orderly transaction (that is, not a forced liquidation or distressed sale) between 
market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. Additional guidance is provided on 
determining when the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability has significantly decreased. 
 
Fair value measurement and disclosure provides a list of factors that a reporting entity should evaluate to 
determine whether there has been a significant decrease in the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability 
in relation to normal market activity for the asset or liability. When the reporting entity concludes there has been a 
significant decrease in the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability, further analysis of the information 
from that market is needed and significant adjustments to the related prices may be necessary to estimate fair 
value in accordance with fair value measurement and disclosure guidance. 
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NOTE 13 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
ASC Topic 820 clarifies that when there has been a significant decrease in the volume and level of activity for the 
asset or liability, some transactions may not be orderly. In those situations, the entity must evaluate the weight of 
the evidence to determine whether the transaction is orderly. This Topic provides a list of circumstances that may 
indicate that a transaction is not orderly. A transaction price that is not associated with an orderly transaction is 
given little, if any, weight when estimating fair value.   
 
Fair value measurement and disclosure establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation 
methods used to measure fair value.  The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs 
(Level 3 measurements).  The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, 
unrestricted assets or liabilities. 

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs that are observable either directly or indirectly, for 
substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement 
and unobservable (i.e., supported with little or no market activity). 

An asset’s or liability’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement. 

The following describes the valuation techniques used by the Corporation to measure certain financial assets and 
liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in the consolidated financial statements:  
 
Securities available for sale: Securities available for sale are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value 
measurement is based upon quoted market prices, when available (Level 1). If quoted market prices are not 
available, fair values are measured utilizing independent valuation techniques of identical or similar securities for 
which significant assumptions are derived primarily from or corroborated by observable market data. Third party 
vendors compile prices from various sources and may determine the fair value of identical or similar securities by 
using pricing models that consider observable market data (Level 2).  For certain securities which are not traded 
in active markets or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations are adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or 
transferability, and such adjustments are generally based on available unobservable market evidence (Level 3). 
 
Cash flow hedge:  The Corporation recognizes cash flow hedges at fair value.  The Corporation has contracted 
with a third party to provide valuations for cash flow hedges using standard valuation techniques such as dealer 
quotes, pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies or similar techniques (Level 2).   
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NOTE 13 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
For financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the fair value measurements by level within the 
fair value hierarchy used at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows (in thousands):  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Description                                                            

 
 

 
 
December 
31, 2023 

 
(Level 1) 

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets 

for Identical 
Assets 

 
 
 

(Level 2) 
Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

 
 
 

(Level 3) 
Significant 

Unobservable Inputs 
 
Securities Available for 
Sale: 
 

    

U. S. agency securities 38,787     -  38,787        - 
Mortgage-backed securities 72,483 - 72,483 - 
State and municipal 
securities 

75,203 - 75,203 - 

Equity securities 1,227 401 - 826 
 
Total Securities available 
for sale 
 
 

      
 187,700 

   
      401 

              
              186,473 

 

             
               826 

Cash Flow Hedge            4,267           -            4,267     - 

 

Total Financial Assets     $ 191,967          $        401     $ 190,740                     $  826 

 

 
 
 
 
Description                                                            

 
 
 

 
December 
31, 2022          

 
(Level 1) 

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets 

for Identical 
Assets 

 
 
 

(Level 2) 
Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

 
 
 

(Level 3) 
Significant 

Unobservable Inputs 
     

U. S. agency securities $   41,946 $      - $   41,946 $       - 
Mortgage-backed securities 70,477 - 70,477 - 
State and Municipal 
securities 

73,636 - 73,636 - 

Equity securities 1,314 474 - 840 
 
Total Securities available for 
sale 
 

      
$ 187,373 

 
 
 

   
                $ 474 

 
 
 

              
             $ 186,059 

 
 
 

             
              $ 840 

Cash Flow Hedge 4,910 - 4,910 - 
 
Total financial assets 

                            
$ 192,283 

   
                $ 474 

              
             $ 190,969 

             
              $ 840 
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NOTE 13 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
The table below presents a reconciliation of activity for available for sale securities measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the periods ending December 31, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022: 
 
                              2023                    2022 

Fair Value, beginning of year $ 840                $ 875 
     Total gains (losses) included in earnings (14)                  (35) 
Fair Value, end of year $ 826                $ 840 
 
The following table presents additional qualitative information about assets measured on a recurring 
basis and for which the Corporation has utilized Level 3 inputs to determine fair value at December 31, 
2023 and 2022: 
 
 Quantitative information about Level 3 fair value measurements for December 31, 2023 
 Fair Value Valuation Techniques Weighted Average Unobservable Input 
Securities available 
for sale 

$        826             Last sale price - 
 

- 

 

 Quantitative information about Level 3 fair value measurements for December 31, 2022 
 Fair Value Valuation Techniques Weighted Average Unobservable Input 
Securities available 
for sale 

$        840             Last sale price - 
 

- 

 

The following describes the valuation techniques used by the Corporation to measure certain financial assets 
recorded at fair value on a nonrecurring basis in the consolidated financial statements: 

Individually Evaluated Loans: Upon adoption of ASC 326, loans individually evaluated for credit expected losses 
included nonaccrual loans and other loans that do not share similar risk characteristics to loans in the ASC 326 
loan pools, which have been classified as Level 3. Individually evaluated loans with an allocation to the allowance 
for credit losses are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. Any fair value adjustments are recorded in the 
period incurred as provision for credit losses on the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive 
income. Prior to the adoption of ASC 326 and ASU N0 2022-02, which eliminated the troubled debt restructuring 
accounting model, loans were designated as impaired when, in the judgment of management and based on current 
information and events, it was probable that all amounts due, according the contractual terms of the loan 
agreement, would not be collected. The measurement of loss associated with loans evaluated individually for all 
loan classes can be based on either the observable market price of the loan, the fair value of the collateral or 
discounted cash flows. Collateral may be in the form of real estate or business assets including equipment, 
inventory, and accounts receivable. The value of real estate collateral is determined utilizing an income or market 
valuation approach based on an appraisal conducted by an independent, licensed appraiser outside of the 
Corporation using observable market data (Level 2). However, if the collateral is a house or building in the 
process of construction or if an appraisal of the real estate property is over two years old, then the fair value is 
considered Level 3. The value of business equipment is based upon an outside appraisal, if deemed significant, or 
the net book value on the applicable business’ financial statements if not considered significant using observable 
market data. Likewise, values for inventory and accounts receivables collateral are based on financial statement 
balances or aging reports (Level 3).  

Foreclosed Real Estate:  Certain assets such as real estate owned are measured at fair value less the estimated cost 
to sell. 

There were no assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
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NOTE 13 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

The following information regarding the fair value of the Corporation’s financial instruments should not be 
interpreted as an estimate of the fair value of the entire Corporation since a fair value calculation is only provided 
for a limited portion of the Corporation’s assets and liabilities. Due to a wide range of valuation techniques and 
the degree of subjectivity used in making the estimates, comparisons between the Corporation’s disclosures and 
those of other companies may not be meaningful. 
 

The estimated fair values of the Corporation’s financial instruments were as follows at December 31, 2023 and 
2022. 

 

  December 31, 2023 

 
Carrying 
Amount 

 Fair 
Value  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 

 (In Thousands) 
 
Financial assets:          
 Cash and cash equivalents    $    14,122  $    14,122    $    14,122    $             -  $             - 
 Time certificates of deposit 199  199  199  -  - 
 Investment securities:          
  Available for sale 187,700  187,700  401  186,473  826 
 Loans, net 466,538  446,851  -  446,851  - 
 Accrued interest receivable 2,311  2,311  -  2,311  - 
       Investment in life insurance 13,186  13,186  -  13,186  - 
       Investment in annuities 3,466  3,466  -  3,466  - 
 Restricted investment in bank stocks 3,299  3,299  -  3,299  - 
      Cash flow hedge 4,267  4,267  -  4,267  - 
          
Total financial assets $ 695,088  $ 675,401  $ 14,722  $ 659,853  $    826 
          
Financial liabilities:          
 Deposits $  560,067    $ 559,592  $          -   $559,592  $             - 
 Short-term borrowings 28,000  28,000  -  28,000  - 
 FHLB advances 69,000  68,888  -  68,888  - 
 Junior subordinated debt 5,155  5,155  -  5,155    - 
 Accrued interest payable 538  538  -  538  - 
          
Total financial liabilities $ 662,760  $ 662,173   $          -  $ 662,173   $           -  
          
Off-balance sheet financial instruments $             -  $             -  $          -  $             -  $            - 
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NOTE 13 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

  December 31, 2022 

 
Carrying 
Amount 

 Fair 
Value  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 

 (In Thousands) 
 
Financial assets:          
 Cash and cash equivalents    $    23,855  $    23,855    $    23,855    $             -  $             - 
 Time certificates of deposit 199  199  199  -  - 
 Investment securities:          
  Available for sale 187,373  187,373  474  186,060  840 
 Loans, net 455,924  445,693  -  445,693  - 
 Accrued interest receivable 2,152  2,152  -  2,152  - 
       Investment in life insurance 13,051  13,051  -  13,051  - 
       Investment in annuities 3,541  3,541  -  3,541  - 
 Restricted investment in bank stocks 3,483  3,483  -  3,483  - 
      Cash flow hedge  4,910  4,910  -  4,910  - 
      Mortgage servicing rights 2  2  -  2  - 
          
Total financial assets $ 694,490  $ 684,259  $ 24,528  $ 658,891  $    840 
          
Financial liabilities:          
 Deposits $  584,673    $ 582,161  $          -   $582,161  $             - 
 Short-term borrowings 42,009  42,009  -  42,009  - 
 FHLB advances 33,000  32,775  -  32,775  - 
 Junior subordinated debt 5,155  5,155  -  5,155    - 
 Accrued interest payable 259  259  -  259  - 
          
Total financial liabilities $ 665,096  $ 662,359   $          -  $ 662,359   $           -  
          
Off-balance sheet financial instruments $             -  $             -  $          -  $             -  $            - 
 

 

NOTE 14 – DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS & HEDGING ACTIVITIES 

The Corporation’s derivative instrument is used as risk management tool to manage differences in the amount, 
timing, and duration of the Corporation’s exposure to variability in expected cash flows. The Corporation’s 
objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to net interest income and to manage its exposure to 
interest rate movements. To accomplish this objective, the Corporation primarily uses interest rate swaps as part 
of its interest rate risk management strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the 
receipt of variable amounts from a counterparty in exchange for the Corporation making fixed-rate payments over 
the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount.   
 
At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had one interest rate swap designated as a cash flow hedging 
instrument. The Corporation entered into an interest rate swap agreement on September 24, 2020 to manage the 
interest rate exposure on $24,000,000 of its FHLB borrowing. This portion of its FHLB borrowings have a current 
maturity of March 2024, though the Corporation will renew these borrowings throughout the ten-year term of the 
swap agreement. Generally accepted accounting principles require that unrealized gains and losses from swap 
agreements be recognized in current earnings unless they meet certain conditions from the time of their inception 
and throughout their term. If these conditions are met and ongoing assessments of the hedge effectiveness occur at 
least quarterly, these principles allow for the unrealized gains and losses to instead be presented as a component 
of other comprehensive income. The Corporation performed all steps necessary upon inception of the swap to 
classify the unrealized gains and losses as a component of other comprehensive income and will take actions  
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NOTE 14 – DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS & HEDGING ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
necessary to continue meeting these criteria prospectively. The most significant aspect of this commitment is that 
the Corporation will renew its $24,000,000 FHLB borrowing through the duration of the swap. If these criteria  
cease to be met, all accumulated unrealized gains and losses associated with the swap agreement will be 
reclassified to earnings at that time. 
 
By entering into the swap agreement and designating it as a cash flow hedge, the Corporation expects to 
effectively convert the variable rates associated with the ongoing FHLB borrowings to a fixed rate. The 
Corporation pays a fixed interest rate of 0.76% to the counterparty, Vining Sparks, on the notional amount of the 
swap and it receives a floating rate of interest on the same notional amount that is based on the 3-month LIBOR. 
A comparable rate based on SOFR will commence when LIBOR no longer exists. Interest payments are 
calculated and paid quarterly on a net basis, and the related impact of this net transaction is presented as an 
adjustment to the interest expense of the associated FHLB borrowing within current earnings. 
 
The notional amount of the swap is not exchanged and does not represent exposure to credit loss. In the event of a 
default by the counterparty, the risk in this transaction is the cost of replacing the agreement at current market 
rates.  
 
The following table summarizes the Corporation’s derivative financial instrument as of December 31, 2023 and 
2022: 
  
(In thousands)      
      Notional           Balance 
      Contract   Fair           Sheet         
Derivative designated as hedging instrument Amount Value            Location               
 
2023 
Cash flow hedge    $ 24,000 $ 4,267      Interest rate swap asset 
 
2022 
Cash flow hedge    $ 24,000 $ 4,910      Interest rate swap asset       
 
The maturity date of the cash flow hedge is September 24, 2030. 
 
The following table summarizes the effect of the Corporation’s derivative financial instrument on net income for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 
(In thousands)      
            Amount of Loss        Location of Loss  
      Reclassified from AOCI  Recognized from AOCI        
Derivative designated as hedging instrument          Into Income        Into Income              
 
2023 
Cash flow hedge               $      -             Not Applicable 
 
2022  
Cash flow hedge               $      -             Not Applicable 
 
Interest Expense (Income): 
 
(In thousands) 
 
 Financial statement line                2023                          2022          
 
 Interest (Income)Expense – Short-term borrowings       $ (1,092)                       $ (261) 
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NOTE 14 – DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS & HEDGING ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Cash collateral held at another institution for the interest rate swap was $1.2 million at December 31, 2023 and 
2022. Collateral posted and received is dependent on the market valuation of the underlying hedge. 
 

NOTE 15 - CONTINGENCIES 

The Corporation is subject to claims and lawsuits which arise primarily in the ordinary course of business. Based 
on information presently available and advice received from legal counsel representing the Corporation in 
connection with any such claims and lawsuits, it is the opinion of management that the disposition or ultimate 
determination of any such claims and lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial 
position, consolidated results of operations or liquidity of the Corporation.  

NOTE 16 - CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR PARENT COMPANY ONLY  

BALANCE SHEETS 
   December 31,  
   2023  2022 
   (In Thousands) 
 ASSETS  

 
 

 
  Cash  $       525     $       637    
  Investment in bank subsidiary  43,686  40,395 
       Investment in consolidated subsidiary trust  155  155 
       Securities available for sale  1,227  1,313 
       Other assets  87  50 
 
 Total Assets  $ 45,680  $ 42,550 
 
 LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

 
 

 
  Liabilities  $      225       $     228      
  Junior subordinated debt  5,155  5,155 
  Shareholders’ equity  40,300  37,167 
 
 Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity  $ 45,680  $ 42,550 
 
STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
      Years Ended December 31, 
     2023  2022 
       (In Thousands) 
 
 Dividends from bank subsidiary   $ 2,011  $  2,464 
 Other dividends  60  53 
 Unrealized losses on equity securities  (86)  (83) 
 
   1,985  2,434 
 Expenses  332  192 
 
   1,653  2,242 
 Equity in undistributed earnings in bank subsidiary  (454)  3,000 
 
 Net Income  $ 1,199  $ 5,242 
      
 Total Comprehensive Income (Loss)  $ 5,326  ($ 17,732) 
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NOTE 16 - CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR PARENT COMPANY ONLY (CONTINUED) 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
    Years Ended December 31, 
    2023  2022 
    (In Thousands) 
 
 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

 
  

  Net income   $ 1,199  $ 5,242 
  Equity in undistributed earnings of bank subsidiary   454  (3,000) 
        Unrealized losses on securities   86  83 
  (Increase) decrease in other assets   (37)  (18) 
  Increase (decrease) in other liabilities   (2)  30 
 
 Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities   1,700  2,337 
 
 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

 
  

  Cash dividends paid   (1,812)  (2,264) 
 
 Net Cash Used in Financing Activities   (1,812)  (2,264) 
 
 Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash   (112)  73 
 
 CASH - BEGINNING   637  564 
 
 CASH - ENDING   $   525  $   637 
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Summary of Selected Financial Data 
(Amounts in Thousands, Except Per Share Data) 

  2023  2022  2021  2020  2019 
 
Income Statement Data 

Net interest income  $  16,608    $  20,245    $  18,013  $  15,640  $  14,607 
Provision for loan losses  1,645  550  125  600  450 
Gains on sales of securities  -  -  39  249  139 
Other income  3,859  3,501  3,508  3,148  3,085 
Other expenses  17,880  17,215  15,582  13,859  13,364 
           

Income before Income Taxes  942  5,981  5,853  4,578  4,017 
           
Income tax expense  (257)  739             686  513  460 
           

Net Income  $1,199    $ 5,242    $ 5,167  4,065  3,557 
 
Balance Sheet Data (Period End) 

Total assets 
 $ 707,545  $ 707,771  $ 698,408  $ 608,291  $542,414 

           
 
Loans, net  466,538  455,924 

 
404,355 

 
380,726 

 
351,877 

Investments:           
 Available for sale  187,700  187,373  233,568  169,701  142,163 
Deposits  560,067  584,673  589,532  494,263  452,355 
Short-term borrowings  28,000  42,009  3,150  3,827  2,802 
Long-term debt  74,155  38,155  43,155  49,155  32,155 
Shareholders’ equity  40,300  37,167  57,163  55,795  50,359 
 
Per Share Data 

Basic earnings  $0.42   $1.85  $1.83  $1.44  $1.26 
Cash dividends declared  0.64  0.80  0.80  0.70  0.69 
Book value  14.24  13.13  20.20  19.76  17.83 
Weighted average common shares outstanding  2,830  2,830  2,825  2,824  2,824 
 

Selected Ratios 

Return on average assets  0.17 % 0.74 % 0.78 % 0.70 % 0.67 % 
Return on average shareholders’ equity  3.17 % 11.46 % 9.03 % 7.65 % 7.25 % 
Average equity to average assets  5.39 % 6.49 % 8.66 % 9.15 % 9.25 % 
Allowance for loan losses to total loans at end 

of period  1.29 % 1.13 % 1.16 % 1.20 % 1.11 % 
Dividend payout ratio  151.04 % 43.19 % 43.79 % 48.61 % 54.77 % 
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Summary of Selected Financial Data (Continued) 
 

The following represents summarized unaudited quarterly financial data of the Corporation which in 
the opinion of management, reflects adjustments (comprising only normal recurring accruals) 
necessary for fair presentation: 

  Three Months Ended 
  December 31  September 30  June 30  March 31 
  (In Thousands, Except per Share Amounts) 
 
2023:         
 Interest income  $  7,231    $  7,198    6,844  6,677 
 Interest expense  3,461  3,101  2,645  2,135 
 Net interest income  3,770  4,097  4,199  4,542 
 Provision for loan losses  1,251  86  308  - 
 Provision for income taxes  (305)  19  (42)  71 
 Net income  (608)  573  364  870 
 Net income per share, basic  (0.22)  0.20  0.13  0.31 
 
2022:         
 Interest income  $  6,515    $  6,017    $  5,569   $  5,450 
 Interest expense  1,344  727  622  613 
 Net interest income  5,171  5,290  4,947  4,837 
 Provision for loan losses  -  350  200  - 
 Provision for income taxes  232  173  139  195 
 Net income  1,456  1,252  1,234  1,300 
 Net income per share, basic  0.51  0.44  0.44  0.46 
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717-535-5158

EAST WATERFORD OFFICE
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PERRY COUNTY
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Ickesburg, PA 17037

717-438-3050
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717-510-7201

LOAN PRODUCTION OFFICE

2120 Market Street

Camp Hill, PA 17011

717-510-7274

ONLINE

www.pennian.bank

TOLL FREE

1-866-950-2144

Follow us on Facebook, Instagram and LinkedIn!

BANK LOCATIONS
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Stock and Dividend Information 
 
The Corporation has only one class of common stock authorized, issued and outstanding.  Although shares of the 
Corporation’s common stock are traded from time to time in private transactions, and in the over-the-counter market, there is 
no established public trading market for the stock.  The Corporation’s common stock is not listed on any stock exchange or 
automated quotation system and there are no present plans to so list the stock.  There can be no assurance that, at any given 
time, any persons will be interested in acquiring shares of the Corporation’s common stock.  Price quotations for the 
Corporation’s common stock do not appear regularly in any generally recognized investment media. 
 
The Corporation pays dividends on the outstanding shares of our common stock as determined by the Board of Directors 
from time to time.  It has been the practice of the Board of Directors to declare cash dividends on a quarterly basis.  Future 
dividends will depend upon our earnings, financial position, cash requirements and such other factors as the Board of 
Directors may deem relevant.  The following table sets forth the cash dividends declared per share of the Corporation’s 
common stock and the highest and lowest per share prices at which the Corporation’s common stock has traded in private 
transactions and in the over-the-counter market during the periods indicated.  To the best of management’s knowledge, such 
prices do not include any retail mark-up, mark-down or commission.  Shares may have been sold in other transactions, the 
price and terms of which are not known to the Corporation.  Therefore, the per share prices at which the Corporation’s stock 
has previously traded may not necessarily be indicative of the true market value of the shares. 
 

 Per Share 
Sales Price 

 
Dividends 

Quarter High Low per Share  

First, 2023 $22.75 $22.70                 $0.16                     

Second 22.50 22.50                   0.16 

Third 22.15 22.00                   0.16 

Fourth 21.25 19.50                   0.16 

    
First, 2022 $24.75 $24.45 $0.16 

Second 24.90 24.50 0.16 

Third 24.00 23.95 0.16 

Fourth 24.00 22.00 0.32 

 
 
The authorized common stock of the Corporation consists of 10,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $5.00 per share, of 
which 2,829,567 shares were outstanding at December 31, 2023.  There were no shares of the Corporation’s common stock (i) 
that are subject to outstanding options, warrants or securities convertible into common stock; (ii) that the Corporation has agreed 
to register under the Securities Act for sale by security holders; or (iii) that are or have been proposed to be publicly offered by 
the Corporation.  The Corporation had approximately 776 shareholders of record as of December 31, 2023. 
 
 
 
Notice of Annual Meeting 
The annual meeting will be held on April 9, 2024. The meeting will be convened in a virtual meeting format only with no 
physical location. Shareholders will be given the opportunity to attend virtually via a video conference link or via phone. 
Instructions to attend the meeting are enclosed. 
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